Faculty of Biological Sciences University of South Bohemia in České Budějovice



Molecular characterization of novel symbiotic alveolate isolated from corals

Master Thesis



Tomáš Chrudimský

2007

Supervisor: Ing. Miroslav Oborník, PhD.

Chrudimský T., 2007: Molecular characterization of novel symbiotic alveolate isolated from corals. Master Thesis in English. Faculty of Biological Sciences, University of South Bohemia in České Budějovice, Czech Republic, 58 pages.

Annotation

Novel alveolate RM12 isolated from stony coral *Plesiastrea versipora* was investigated via tools of molecular biology in order to infer its phylogenetic position. According to the data, RM12 is the closest photosynthetic relative of apicomplexan parasites.

This work was funded by grant 5403026 and two grants SGA 2005/05 and SGA2006/006 from Student Grant Agency of the Faculty of Biological Sciences, University of South Bohemia.

I hereby declare that I have work out this master thesis all by myself, using the cited literature.

I hereby declare that I agree with publication of my master thesis in electronic form in reduced version (deleted parts will be archived by BF JCU) according to the § 47b of the law no. 111/1998 Sb. Thesis will be placed in the public part of the STAG database run by the University of South Bohemia in České Budějovice on its web site.

In České Budějovice, 23th of April, 2007

.....

signature

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my thanks to my supervisor Miroslav Oborník for his guidance and opportunity to work on such interesting theme. I appreciate help and advices of all members of Laboratory of Molecular Taxonomy, however, my special thanks belongs to Ogar. I'm indebted to Robert Bruce Moore for his suggestions and consultations. I'm very thankful to my parents for support of all kinds. Last but not least I want to thank Terezka for her love and patience.

Contents

| Introduction |
|---|
| Very brief introduction to alveolates |
| Phylum Ciliophora |
| Phylum Dinoflagellata5 |
| Phylum Apicomplexa7 |
| Endosymbiotic theory and origin of plastids |
| Fundaments of discussion on apicomplexan plastid – green versus red 9 |
| Mitochondria 11 |
| Mitochondrial genome of apicomplexans 12 |
| Mitochondrial genome of dinoflagellates |
| Endosymbionts of corals |
| Aims of the study 15 |
| Material and methods16 |
| RM12 culturing |
| DNA isolation |
| RNA isolation and cDNA synthesis |
| Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) 17 |
| Electrophoresis |
| PCR product isolation |
| Molecular cloning, transformation and plasmid isolation |
| Sequencing |
| (PFGE) Pulse field gel electrophoresis |
| Southern blot and hybridization |
| Primer design |
| Sequence alignment |
| Phylogenetic analyses |
| Results 24 |
| <i>cox 1</i> gene |

| Phylogenetic analyses of cox 1 gene | |
|--|----|
| Mitochondrial genome size | |
| Histone H2B | |
| Histone H2A | |
| GAPDH (glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase) | |
| Discussion | |
| Conclusions | 45 |
| References | 46 |
| Appendix | 58 |

Introduction

Very brief introduction to alveolates

Based on molecular and morphological markers apicomplexans, dinoflagellates and ciliates form well-supported group called Alveolata (Gajadhar et al. 1991, Wolters 1991, Fast et al. 2002, Saldarriaga et al. 2003). Within alveolates apicomplexans appear more closely related to the dinoflagellates rather than to the ciliates (Fast et al. 2002). Alveolates all share a system of sacs underneath their cell membranes. These closely packed sacs are termed alveoli.

Phylum Ciliophora

Phylum Ciliophora Doflein, 1901 comprises unicellular organisms found in various environments. From ecological point of view they constitute good indicators of the health of environments they occupy (Lynn and Gilron 1992). Nearly all ciliates are phagotrophs using cytostome to ingest their food. Cytostome may be surrounded by ciliar structures called oral kinetids. Cilia are motile rod-shaped parts of the cell found on the surface. They consist of microtubules originating from the basal body known as kinetosome and are surrounded by the cell membrane. All members of the phylum have cilia in some time in their live cycle. Ciliates also contain one or more contractile vacuoles to regulate water content and ion concentrations in the cell. The cell membrane is supported by sacs-like membrane-bound organelles termed alveoli. Another feature that joins ciliates is presence of two nuclei. The bigger one called macronucleus is employed in the cell metabolism and the smaller one is involved in sexual reproduction (Perkins et al 2001a). However, micronucleus has been lost in some lineages (Raikov 1969, 1982). While cell division cycle, nuclei divide endomitotically i.e. the nuclear envelope do not dissolve and persists through cell division (Perkins et al 2001a).

Phylum Dinoflagellata

Dinoflagellata Bütschli, 1885 is extremely diverse group of unicellular organisms. They inhabit various nutritious niches such as autotrophs, mixotrophs, osmotrophs, phagotrophs and parasites. Dinoflagellata contains more than 4000 sepecies in 550 genera and can be found in both marine and fresh water environments, as symbionts or parasites of various vertebrates and invertebrates, or even in the snow. The name of this group came from the Greek word *dineo* which means to whirl. Most dinoflagellates have two distinctive flagella and their position creates characteristic rotatory motion when a dinoflagellate moves. This movement is quite fast achieving rates of 200-500 μ m/s. The size of dinoflagellate cells varies from 2 to 2000 μ m (Graham and Wilcox 2000). Some dinoflagellates produce toxins and can be dangerous for marine animals and humans (Van Dolah 2000). According to their cell wall there are two types of dinoflagellates described. The first group comprises armored dinoflagellates, which have cellulose plates arranged in distinct patterns, which are used to infer their taxonomy. The second group comprises naked dinoflagellates which lack these plates at all (see Fensome 1993).

Nuclear genome and its arrangement is one of the most unusual features of dinoflagellates. Their genomes are extremely large that is 3000 – 216 000 Mbps with high number of morphologically similar chromosomes (Loeblich 1976) which have permanently condensed chromatin. Despite the genome size, content of unique sequences is interestingly 50% (Allen et al. 1975, Hinnebush et al. 1980). Very unusual is also occurrence of the nucleotide hydroxymethyluracil in the DNA because it can not be found in any other eukaryote (Rae 1976). For a long time dinoflagellates have been thought to lack histones (Rizzo 2003, Moreno Diaz de la Espina et al 2005); in spite of the fact that putative histore H3 was annotated from Pyrocystis lunula. However this sequence was not further analyzed (Okamoto and Hasting 2003). Then Hackett et al (2005) found weakly expressed histone H2A in Alexandrium tamarense. So far histories H2A and H4 from Crypthecodinium cohni (Sanchez-Puerta et al 2007), and histone H3 from Pyrocystis lunula (Okamoto and Hastings 2003) have been sequenced. Except this rare histone expression found in several species, dinoflagellates contain basic DNA binding proteins similar to bacterial histone-like proteins (Rizzo 1981, Wong et al. 2003).

About one half of all dinoflagellates bear a chloroplast. Majority of these species contain secondary peridinin plastid, however, the rest of them has tertiary chloroplasts or kleptoplastids (Schnepf and Elbrächter 1999) (see paragraph Endosymbiotic theory and the origin of plastids). Plastid genome is reduced in peridinin plastid containing dinoflagellates. Individual genes are encoded on

plasmid-like minicircles 2-3 kbps in size (see Zhang et al 1999, Barbrook and Howe 2000, Zhang et al 2001, Barbrook et al 2001, Hiller 2001).

Phylum Apicomplexa

Phylum Apicomplexa Levine, 1970 is a large group of parasitic unicellular organisms containing more than 4600 named species and about 180 genera (Levine 1988). A lot of apicomplexan species are of high medical or veterinary importance. Particularly, species of the genus *Plasmodium* cause different forms of malaria and infect 500 millions people every year and 1-2 million people dies (Kahl 2003).

The most characteristic feature of this group is the presence of apical complex in invasive life stages. Apical complex consists of polar ring, cortical microtubules, rhoptries and two apical rings associated with conoid apparatus. Apical complex is a sophisticated tool that allows apicomplexans penetrate host cell (Blackman & Bannister 2001). The second feature that joins almost all apicomplexans is presence of non-photosynthetic secondary plastid called the apicoplast suggesting that apicomplexans evolved from a photosynthetic ancestor. The loss of plastid occurred in some lineages such as colpodellids (free living phagotrops) (Williams and Keeling 2003), Cryptosporidium (Zhu et al. 2000) and in some gregarines (Obornik et al 2002, Tosso and Omoto 2007). Although the particular function of the organelle is not known, several important metabolic pathways such as fatty acid synthesis, nonmevalonate pathway for isoprenoid synthesis, or part of the heme pathway, take place in the apicoplast (McFaden and Roos 1999; Sullivan et al 2000; Maréchal 2001; Gornicky 2003). The apicoplast genome is circular and reduced to about 35 kB (Wilson et al. 1996). The copy number of plDNA has been poorly studied however it was found that there are 1 or 2 copies in case of *Plasmodium falciparum* and cca. 8 copies in case of Toxoplasma gondi present within the apicoplast (Wilson and Williamson 1997). Plastid of Apicomplexa is supposed to be monophyletic in origin (McFadden et al. 1997, Denny et al. 1998, Lang-Unash et al. 1998, Obornik et al. 2002).

Endosymbiotic theory and the origin of plastids

Plastids are photosynthetic organelles found in plant and algae. In some cases plastid lost its photosynthetic function, however, essential metabolic pathways take place in it. The diversity of plastid forms is amazing as well as their various functions.

Primary plastids arose as a product of endosymbiosis of a cyanobacteria and a eukaryotic host around 1.6 billion years ago (Hedges et al 2004, Yoon et al 2004). It is thought that phagotrophic eukaryote swallowed its cyanobacterial prey which it was unable to digest. The cyanobacterium lost some of its genes and many others were transferred to the host nucleus (Gray and Spencer 1996, Martin and Herrmann 1998). Descendants of this particular endosymbiosis are green plants, red algae and glaucophytes. Primary plastid is bound by two membranes, which correspond to the inner and outer membrane of the domesticated cyanobacteria (Jarvis and Soll 2001).

After the event of the primary endosymbiosis the secondary endosymbiosis occurred. An alga bearing primary plastid was engulfed by a eukaryotic phagotroph and became an organelle (Archibald and Keeling 2002). From this event originated green (green alga) and the red (red alga) plastid lineages respectively. It was inferred that event of secondary endosymbiosis of the red lineage occurred shortly after the primary endosymbiosis between 1.3 billion years ago (Yoon et al 2004). While establishing of the secondary endosymbiosis a huge number of genes were lost or transferred and a novel protein-targeting system was developed (McFadden 1999). Proteins encoded by genes that were transferred to the nucleus had to be somehow returned back to the complex plastid and overcome two additional membranes. Secondary plastids of the green algal origin are found in Euglenids and Chlorarachniophytes. In spite of that these two groups are not closely related (Perkins et al 2001b, Archibald et al. 2002) their plastids are monophyletic (Cavalier-Smith 1999). Secondary plastids of the red algal origin are found in Cryptomonads, Stramenopiles, Haptophytes, some Dinoflagellates and Apicomplexans. These taxa together with ciliates form a group called Chromalveolata (Cavalier-Smith 1999) and are postulated to share a single red algal endosymbiosis in their common ancestor. This suggestion is widely known as the chromalveolate hypothesis (Cavalier-Smith 1999). The major problem with the chromalveolate theory is the existence of Ciliates, which are heterotrophs having no trace of plastid. Alternative theories assume that particular taxa of Chromalveolates gained their plastid independently (see Bodyl 2005, Falkowski et al 2004, Grzebyk et al 2003,).Despite of recent findings of Fast et al. 2001 and Harper and Keeling 2003, which support the existence of Chromalveolates, whole hypothesis remains unproven. Moreover the big challenge for chromalveolate hypothesis became the work of Bodyl (2005). He critically revisited this hypothesis in the light of recent phylogenetic, cytological and genomic data and suggested that plastids of Alveolata and Chromista evolved in array of independent endosymbiotic events and that majority of them may result from tertiary endosymbioses.

To make it even more complex dinoflagellates acquired their plastids not only from the secondary endosymbiosis (peridinin plastids). Plastid gain or loss is quite common in dinoflagellates. Such tertiary endosymbioses occurred in multiple occasions (Saldarriaga et al. 2001). Some dinoflagellates have tertiary plastid of the cryptomonad (Schnepf and Elbrächter 1988, Vesk et al. 1996), diatom (Chesnick et al. 1997) and prasinophyte origin (Watanabe et al. 1987). Recent discoveries of plastid-lacking alveolates (*Perkinsus, Oxyrrhis*) which fit to the base of dinoflagellate clade suggests a possibility that even peridinin plastids arose from the tertiary endosymbiosis (Hackett et al 2004, Bodyl 2005).

The special forms of plastids are kleptoplastids. Kleptoplastids means that these incorporated plastids were stolen from various algae by their new host (Schnepf and Elbrächter 1999). They are of limited survival and represent the way how a heterotrophic organism can obtain capacities of an autotroph. Such relationship provides no advantages for the plastid but it represent selective advantage for heterotrophic thieves (Graham and Wilcox 2000).

Fundaments of discussion on apicomplexan plastid - green versus red

Since there was no known photosynthetic apicomplexan researchers argued whether is the apicoplast of the "red" or of the "green" origin. It is known that AT content of apicoplast genome is extremely high creating bias in phylogenetic analyses (Lockhart et al. 1992). Sequences encoding ribosomal RNA represent widely used genes of choice when inferring phylogeny. In 1995 Egea and Lang-Unnash showed their analyses based on plastid 16S rDNA gene suggesting relationship of apicomlexans and euglenoids which belongs to the green lineage (Delwiche, 1999). Unfortunately there were no sequences from dinoflagellates available. The green origin was also inferred by Köhler et al. (1997) however the support for this branching was poor. They chose *tufA* gene encoding elongation factor TU. Wilson (1993), Williamson et al. (1994) and Yap et al (1997) suggested that the presence of the sufB gene previously known as ORF 470 or ycf24 in the apicoplast shows the red algal origin. *sufB* is a homologue of a protein only found in the cyanobacteria and in the red algae. In the apicoplast sufB is responsible for iron cluster synthesis and oxidative stress resistance (Ellis et al. 2001). Blanchard and Hicks (1999) focused on the gene losses and rearrangements in sequenced plastid genomes and found "the green scenario" improbable. Mc. Fadden et al. (1997) and Stoebe and Kowalik (1999) found similarity in organization of the ribosomal protein gene cluster between apicomplexans and plastids from the red lineage. Zhang et al. (1999) and (2000) published plastid sequences of 16S and 23S rDNA genes from dinoflagellates and their phylogenetic analyses clustered together dinoflagellates and apicomplexans. They also encountered clustering of apicomplexans with euglenoids in case of 16S rDNA (like Egea and Lang-Unnash in 1995), however this branching was artificial. Another work that very strongly supported the red algal origin of the apicoplast appeared in 2001. Fast et al. (2001) used GAPDH (glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase) in their study. There are two copies of GAPDH in plastid bearing organisms. The first of them is employed in the cytosol and the second one in the chloroplast. The cytoplasmatic version of GAPDH in the red algae, green algae and euglenoids is related to the other eukaryotic homologues. The plastid version of GAPDH is related to the cyanobacterial homologues. Surprisingly, this is not true in dinoflagellates, cryptomonads and apicomplexans. Both versions of GAPDH in these taxa are homologous to the cytoplasmatic versions! Fast et al. (2001) not only shown close relationship between dinoflagellates and apicomplexans but their work also supported the chromalveolate theory (Cavalier-Smith, 1999). Findings of Funes et al. (2002) were the last big challenges for the red algal origin of the apicoplast. In chlamydomonad algae the cox2 gene was transferred from the mitochondrion to the nucleus and split into two subunits (Perez-Martinez et al. 2001). Funes et al. (2002) demonstrated that cox2 encoded in the Plasmodium and Toxoplasma nuclear

genomes is split in the same way suggesting it was transferred from the green alga derived plastid. However this evidence for the green origin appeared much weaker than it might look. Except this possible gene transfer genome of *Plasmodium* contains no genes of the green algal origin (Gardner et al. 2002). Recently Waller and Keeling (2006) found out that curious *cox 2* rearrangement in alveolates and chlorophytes were two independent events, so that there was no lateral gene transfer as previously mentioned by Funes et al (2002).

Mitochondria

Mitochondria are cellular organelles which perform plenty of fundamental functions. They are employed in the ATP synthesis (Saraste 1999), cell death (Jones 2000, Youle and Karbowski 2005), cell signaling (Vandecasteele et al 2001, Logan and Knight 2003), biosynthesis of amino acids, vitamin cofactors, fatty acids, iron clusters (Mackenzie and McIntosh 1999, Bowsher and Tobin 2001).

Mitochondrion comprises four distinct compartments: the outer membrane, the intermembrane

| group | cristae |
|---------------------|-----------|
| Glaucophytes | flattened |
| Cryptophytes | flattened |
| Euglenoids | disk |
| | shaped |
| Chlorarachniophytes | tubular |
| Red algae | flattened |
| Green algae | flattened |
| Haptophytes | tubular |
| Ochrophytes | tubular |
| Dinoflagellates | tubular |
| Apicomplexans | tubular |

Table 1: Cristae morphology of major algal groups

space, the inner membrane and the matrix. The inner membrane is folded into cristae, which contain protein machinery producing ATP. The fold of the inner membrane is characteristic for certain taxa (for example see the table 1).

From the phylogenetic point of view mitochondria constitute monophyletic group sharing common ancestor with α -proteobacteria (Lang et al 1997, Andersson et al 1998, Gray et al 1999, Gabaldon and Huynen 2003, Esser et al 2004, Lang et al 2005). There are three major theories of the mitochondrial origin (Hackstein et al 2006). The first of them is the serial endosymbiotic theory. It assumes that

mitochondrion-lacking eukaryote hosted a bacterium that became an ancestor of current mitochondria. A eukaryotic cell and nucleus was formed via fusion of an archaebacterium and a proteobacterium followed by α -proteobacterium acquisition (Zillig et al 1989). Hydrogen theory postulated by Martin and Müller (1998) assumes simultaneous origin of the eukaryotic cell and its mitochondrion. A symbiosis established between a hydrogen producing α -proteobacterium and hydrogen requiring methanogenic archaebacterium. This theory can further explain the single origin of anaerobic and aerobic versions of mitochondria. Very similar is the hypothesis of Moreira and Garcia (1998) employing a δ -proteobacterium instead of α -proteobacterium.

Mitochondrial genome of Apicomplexans

Mitochondrial genome of apicomplexan parasites is rather small and even gene content is reduced. It is linear molecule 5.9 kbps in size encoding only three proteins of respiratory chain Cytochrome C oxidase subunit I (cox 1), Cytochrome C oxidase subunit III (cox 3) and Cytochrome b (cob). Except these proteins it encodes truncated ribosomal RNAs LSU and SSU respectively. Surprisingly there are no genes for tRNAs, all required tRNAs are nuclear encoded and imported to the mitochondrion. In *Plasmodium* species mitochondrial genome consists of tandemly repeated 6 kbps units however Preiser et al (1996) detected circular molecules in total amount less than 1% of mtDNA mass. In Theileria parva the genom consist of coding elements flanked by inverted repeats (Faegin 2000). Ribosomal RNAs are fragmented (Faegin 2000) in apicomplexan mitochondria into twenty fragments encoded on both strands in *Plasmodium falciparum* (Faegin et al. 1997) and some of these fragments are oligoadenylated (Gillespie et al 1999). Transcription is driven by T3/T7 phage-like RNA polymerase (Li et al 2001) producing polycistronic product (Ji et al 1997) which is cleaved and mature mRNAs and rRNAs are adenylated (Redkopf et al 2000). There is no evidence that mRNA editing occurs in apicomplexans (Faegin 1992, McIntosh et al 1998, Redkopf et al 2000).

Mitochondrial genome of Dinoflagellates

It is known and proven fact that mtDNA of dinoflagellates is extremely hard to study therefore only few works appeared on this theme enlightening small pieces of this puzzle. So far mtDNA was only characterized from *Crypthecodinium cohnii*. It is a mixture of linear molecules smaller than 10 kbps (Norman 2000, Norman and Gray 2001). In *Crypthecodinium cohnii cox 1* coding sequence is present in two versions which differ mainly in C terminal region. Central repeat unit is flanked by 2 different upstream and 2 different downstream flanking regions. These flanking domains contain short inverted repeats (Norman 2000, Norman and Gray 2001). Very similar arrangement can be found in plant mitochondrial genomes (Hanson et al. 1992). Chaput et al (2002) reported occurrence of poolyadenylated transcripts similar to *cox 1, cox 3* and *cob* genes in the dinoflagellate *Gonyaulax polyhedra*. Lin et al. (2002) discovered widespread and extensive substitutional editing of mRNA for *cox 1* and *cob* respectively in the same species. Nucleotide substitutions were predominantly in the first or in the second positions changing the amino acid content. Because of the character, pattern and multiplicity of changes Gray (2003) suggested that this is a novel type of editing. Mitochondrion encoded rRNAs are fragmented and oligoadenylated (Norman 2000).

Endosymbionts of corals

A lot of various animals and plants established symbiotic relationship with microorganisms obtaining large amount of benefit (Douglas, 1998). Many marine invertebrates (corals, anemones, jellyfish etc.) host endosymbiotic algae allowing them to inhabit nutrient poor environments (Muscatine and Porter. 1977; Miller D. J. and Yellowlees, 1989). Majority of these endosymbionts are dinoflagellates of the genus *Symbiodinium*.

Endosymbionts at least enable their hosts to get the great advantage of autotrophy. They were reported to release photosynthesate (Muscatine 1990). Moreover thanks to their endosymbionts cnidarians can recycle waste nitrogen, which is returned back in the form of aminoacids (Muscatine and Porter. 1977; Falkowski et al. 1993). Biosynthesis of essential aminoacids undermines the value of these symbiotic algae. Fitzgerald and Szmant (1997) reported synthesis of essential amino acids in scleractenian corals which commonly host various *Symbiodinium*. In the sea anemone *Aiptasia pulchella* Wang and Douglas (1999) found that symbiotic

Symbiodinium sp. synthesize and transfer to the host 7 aminoacids (histidine, isoleucine, leucine, lysine, phenylalanine, tyrosine and valine).

Endosymbionts enter the host cell via phagocytosis. In a host cell a symbiont is surrounded by symbiosome membrane derived from the phagocytic membrane. Using this membrane a host can control flow of nutrients (phosphorous, nitrogen...) to symbiont (Rees 1991, Rands et al. 1993) eg. rate of symbionts grow. *Symbiodinium* spp. can double its population *in vitro* of around three days (Fitt and Trench 1983, Domotor and D'Elia 1984) while *in situ* is its growth much slower (Miller and Yellowlees 1989).

Genus *Symbiodinium* plays crucial role in a host life. Loss of symbionts or degradation of their pigments in benthic animals such as corals is called bleaching. This negative event causes depressed growth and increased mortality of corals. Moreover bleaching events occur more frequently and are more severe than it used to be (Wilkinson 1999). Extent of bleaching events in last twenty years suggests that this phenomenon is something unnatural (e.g. Rosenberg and Ben-Haim 2002). Coral bleaching can be triggered in laboratory by extreme temperatures (cold/warm), high irradiance, prolonged darkness, heavy metals and pathogenic microorganisms (Hoegh-Guldberg 1999, Brown 2000, Ben-Haim and Rosenberg 2002). It is very probably linked with global warming and pollution of the sea (Harvell et al. 1999).

Coral bleaching represents a deleterious trait so why it persists in *Symbiodinium* symbioses? According to the adaptive bleaching hypothesis proposed by Buddemeier and Fautine (1993) it may represent a mechanism how to deal with bad conditions. It is risky adaptive strategy when animal partner tries to replace an old symbiont by an alternative one. Most of corals hosting *Symbiodinium* live in shallow water 1-2 °C bellow the temperature that triggers coral bleaching. Therefore global warming represents the real threat which can cause death of coral reefs and collapse of this unique ecosystem (Douglas 2003).

Aims of the study

- Molecular phylogeny based on protein coding genes of the novel alveolate RM12 isolated from corals.
- Finding of unique features typical for particular groups of Alveolata in RM12.
- Stimation of mitochondrial genome size of RM12.

Material and methods

RM12 culturing

RM12 was cultured in f2 medium (see appendix) in plastic tubes. Tubes were placed in TS 606 CZ/2 – VAR (Schoeller) thermostat tempered to 18 °C. Photoperiod was set to 14 hours of the light and 10 hours of the dark.

DNA isolation

Cells were scraped from the wall of a tube and suspension was centrifuged at 13000 rpm (g = 20000 m/s^2) for 5 minutes. Supernatant was discarded and 96% ethanol was added to the pellet. Ethanol fixed cells were stored at -20 °C for later use. Before DNA isolation fixed cells were peletted down and ethanol was discarded. Cells were kept at 37 °C overnight to let remaining ethanol evaporate. Dried pellet in 1.5 ml eppendorf tube was covered with 400 µl of lysation buffer (Wattier et al 2000) (see appendix) and 100 µl proteinase K (20 mg/ml) was added. Lysis was carried out at 56 °C overnight. Than reaction was transferred on ice and let stand for 5 minutes. Then it was spin down at 13000 rpm ($g = 20000 \text{ m/s}^2$) for 5 minutes. Supernatant was transferred to the new tube and pellet discarded. Volume of the lysate was filled to 600 µl by ddH₂O and the same volume of phenol was added and the tube was mixed gently, but thoroughly by inverting for 5 minutes. Then sample was centrifuged at 13000 rpm (g = 20000 m/s²) for 5 minutes. Two phases appeared in the tube. Upper phase was transferred to the new tube and equal volume of phenol was added. Tube was mixed for 5 minutes by inverting followed by a new centrifugation. Water phase was purified by phenol, until interface appeared clear. Then phenol and chloroform (1:1) were added in equal volume to water phase and reaction was mixed and centrifuged again. Upper phase which arose from this step was mixed with pure chloroform (1:1) and mixed and centrifuged in the same way like in cycles before. The upper phase was transferred to the new tube, mixed with room temperature absolute (96 %) ethanol 1 : 3 and incubated at - 20 °C for 3 hours. Tube was centrifuged at 4 °C and 14000 rpm (g = 20600 m/s²) for 15 minutes. Supernatant was discarded and 1000 µl of 70% ethanol were added. This step was followed by centrifugation at 4 °C and 14000 rpm ($g = 20600 \text{ m/s}^2$) for 10 minutes. Supernatant was discarded again and pellet dried at room temperature for 30 minutes.

Then 50 μ l of ddH₂O were added and pellet was resuspended by pipeting up and down. DNA was stored at -20 °C.

RNA isolation and cDNA synthesis

Trizol[®] Reagent (Invitrogen) was added to the pelleted cells (1 ml/50-100 mg of material), then glass beats was added and whole reaction was shook in Mini-BeadbeaterTM (Biospec Products) for 5 minutes at 5000 rpm. Thorough shaking was the crucial step of whole isolation because the cell wall of RM12 is thick and is difficult to disrupt it. RNA was then isolated according to manufacturers instructions. At the end RNA was precipitated using 96% ethanol, air dried and then dissolved in 100 μ l RNase free ddH₂O. Quality of isolated RNA was evaluated using electrophoresis. For this purpose 1.2% (w/v) agarose gel and 1 x TBE buffer was used. Single strand cDNA was synthesized using RevertAidTM H Minus Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (MBI Fermentas) and random hexamers according to manufacturer's instructions. Concentration of RNA and cDNA was measured in cuvettes (UVette[®] 220-1600 nm; Eppendorf) at 260 nm using BioPhotometer (Eppendorf). Then cDNA was dilluted to the concentration of 100-150 ng/µl.

Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR)

PCR was carried out to obtain desired genes in useful number of copies. In spite of different PCR programs and different primer pairs the reaction mixture was always the same. The mixture contained 2.5 μ l of 10x Taq PCR buffer (Top - Bio), 2 μ l of 2.5 mM dNTP's, 1 μ l (25 pmol) each primer, 1 unit of Taq purple DNA polymerase (Top - Bio), 1 μ l (50-200 ng/ μ l) of total DNA (cDNA), and 17 μ l of ddH₂O. Amplification was made using T3 Thermocycler (Biometra).

Histone H2A was amplified from cDNA using H2AF/H2AR primer pair. For primer sequences see table 2. The amplification program consisted of pre-denaturation at 95 °C for 5 minutes and 30 cycles consisted of: 94 °C for 1 minute, 59 °C for 1 minute, and 72 °C for 1 minute. Program was terminated by final elongation at 72 °C for 10 minutes.

Histon H2B was amplified from cDNA using H2B1/H2B2 primer pair. For primer sequences see table 2. The amplification program consisted of pre-denaturation at 95 °C for 5 minutes and 30 cycles consisted of: 94 °C for 1 minute, 60 °C for 1 minute, 72 °C for 1 minute. Program was terminated by final elongation at 72 °C for 10 minutes.

GAPDH was amplified from cDNA using GAPDH1/ GAPDH2 primer pair (Harper and Keeling 2003). For primer sequences see table 2. The amplification program consisted of pre-denaturation at 95 °C for 5 minutes and 30 cycles consisted of: 94 °C for 1 minute, 56 °C for 1 minute, 72 °C for 2 minutes. Program was terminated by final elongation at 72 °C for 10 minutes.

Cox 1 gene was amplified from total DNA using BROWNKOX1f/KOX1R2 primer pair sequence was extended Cox1codingR, Cox1codingF, and using KOXBRF3NEST, LEXTEPLCOX1BR, ADDKX1BRF2, ADDKX1BRR1, RAND1, COXDSNOCDVR2F2, COXDSNOCODVR2F1, COXDSNOCODVR1F2, COXDSNOCODVR1F1, COXDSNOCODRES, KOXDS9BPOVERLAP, ZACKOX1FOR, KONECKOX1REF primers. For primer sequences see table 2. Moreover, sequences surrounding the gene were investigated too. It was performed using so called uneven PCR method developed by (Chen and Wu 1997). Uneven PCR uses 2 long specific (as much as possible) primers annealing to the target region on one strand of the DNA one next to other and 1 short arbitrary oligonucleotide which anneals randomly on the second strand. PCR is performed in 2 runs. In the first run, the first specific and the arbitrary primer are used. Product of this reaction serves as the template for the second run, when the second specific (nested) and the arbitrary oligonucleotide are used. Uneven PCR uses special cycling program with 2 distinct annealing temperatures within one cycle. The first temperature is high and only specific oligonucleotide anneals, after elongation and denaturation both primers anneal when the second annealing temperature occurs. This design of cyclic conditions favors specificity of the reaction by synthesis of specific ssDNA after the first annealing temperature. In this case following program was used. Predenaturation was at 95 °C for 5 minutes followed by 20 cycles consisted of: 94 °C for 1 minute, 50 °C for 1 minute, 72 °C for 3 minutes, 94 °C for 1 minute, 40 °C for 1

| name | gene | Sequence 5´-3´ |
|---------------|-------------|----------------------------------|
| H2B1 | Histone H2B | GTBYTSAARCARGTNCAYCCNGANACKGG |
| H2B2 | Histone H2B | ACKGCRTGYTTNGCNARTTCKCCKGG |
| H2AR | Histone H2A | AAYTTGNWKARTTCYTGCTCRTTNCNNACNKC |
| H2AF | Histone H2A | AANTCTGCNAARGCNGGNYTNCARTTCCC |
| GAPDH1 | GAPDH | CCAAGGTCGGNATHAAYGGNTTYGG |
| GAPDH2 | GAPDH | CGAGTAGCCCCAYTCRTTRTCRTACCA |
| M13F | sequencing | GTAAAACGACGGCCAG |
| M13R | sequencing | CAGGAAACAGCTATGAC |
| Cox1codingR | cox 1 | CTATTCATCGATGTTAATTATTG |
| Cox1codingF | cox 1 | ATGGAAATATCCCTTCCGAGA |
| BROWNKOX1f | cox 1 | TRTTCTGGTTTTTTGGNCA |
| KOX1R2 | cox 1 | GCWAYWACATAATATGTRTCATG |
| KOXBRF3NEST | cox 1 | CATTCTTATTAGGTGGAGTTACCGG |
| LEXTEPLCOX1BR | cox 1 | GTGGGTATTATAATCATAAGTTTAAA |
| ADDKX1BRF2 | cox 1 | TGGGAATTCATTAGTAGAT |
| ADDKX1BRR1 | cox 1 | CCAAATGCTGGTAATATAA |
| RAND1 | cox 1 | ANNAWATTCCA |
| COXDSNOCDVR2 | cox 1 | CADATAATCTTACCGGTAACTCTACCTA |
| F2 | | |
| COXDSNOCODVR | cox 1 | CCGTACAACGACTTCGATTCATAACCA |
| 2F1 | | |
| COXDSNOCODVR | cox 1 | AGACAGGAAGGGTAAATAGAGTCTACA |
| 1F2 | | |
| COXDSNOCODVR | cox 1 | TATGTAATAGGGATAGCGGTAGCGGGGT |
| 1F1 | | |
| COXDSNOCODRE | cox 1 | TCTATAGCTATATGTACTGTGTGTGTGG |
| S | | |
| KOXDS9BPOVER | cox 1 | TTAACATCGATGAATAGTTGCTGGGTT |
| LAP | | |
| ZACKOX1FOR | cox 1 | CGACAGACCTATTAATATTATCTAA |
| KONECKOX1REF | cox 1 | ACCAAATCACTAGCTAACCCAGCAA |

minute, 72 °C for 3 minutes. Program was terminated by final elongation at 72 °C for 10 minutes. Then 0.5 μ l of PCR product was used as the template for the second run.

Table 2: List of primer sequences

Electrophoresis

Electrophoresis was used to separate DNA fragments obtained by PCR and later by plasmid restrictions. All samples were examined on 1% (w/v) agarose gel containing ethidium bromide (Sigma) in amount of 0.02 mg/35 ml of agarose gel. To determine the size of characterized DNA fragments 1 kb DNA ladder (New England Biolabs, Inc.) was used as a molecular marker. Products were detected on UV transiluminator (TFX-35.M Vilber Lourmat). Photos of gels were taken by digital camera (Kodak) and processed by software Kodak Digital science 1D version 3.0.2.

PCR product isolation

Pieces of gel containing PCR product were transferred on the PARAFILM (which is in fact only plastic foil). They were wrapped and these foil-wrapped "parcels" were squeezed. Effluent fluid was collected by pipette and transferred to the clean tube. This fluid contained highly concentrated PCR product and it was used for cloning directly.

Molecular cloning, transformation and plasmid isolation

PCR products were cloned into pCR[®]2.1-TOPO[®] and pDRIVE vectors using TOPO TA Cloning[®] Kit (Invitrogen) and QIAGEN[®] PCR Cloning Kit (QUIAGEN) respectively according to manufacturer instructions. Then DH5 α chemically competent cells were added to the mixture and reaction was incubated on ice for 30 minutes. Then cells were heat-shocked (30 seconds at 42 °C) and cooled on ice immediately (for 2 minutes). 150 µl of tempered SOC medium (see appendix) was added to the each tube and tubes were shaken (200 rpm) at 37 °C for 1 hour. Competent cells were spread on preheated (37 °C) agar plates (see appendix) coated with 40 µl of X-gal (40mg/ml) (5 – bromo – 4 – cloro – 3 – inodyl – beta – D – galactosidase, Serva) and 4 µl of IPTG (isopropyl thiogalctoside). Petri dishes were incubated at 37 °C for 16 hours. After incubation white colored and white colored bacterial colonies appeared on agar plates. There was a high probability of presence of vector with bond PCR product in white colored colonies. The principle of white/blue selection is that vector contains *lacZ* gene encoding beta-galactosidase. PCR product is inserted into this gene making protein atelic. When PCR product is

not present in *lacZ* gene, functional protein is produced. Beta-galactosidase metabolizes X-gal sugar and blue product appears. White colored colonies were transferred to the tube containing 3 ml of LB medium (see appendix) and 12 μ l of ampiciline (12.5 μ g/ml) by sterile toothpick. Tubes were incubated in a shaker for 12-14 hours at 37 °C at 200 rpm). Bacterial plasmid containing PCR insert was isolated using QIAprep[®]Spin Miniprep Kit (QIAGEN). Concentration of plasmid DNA was measured in cuvettes (UVette[®] 220-1600 nm; Eppendorf) at 260 nm using BioPhotometer (Eppendorf). Isolated bacterial plasmid was analyzed by restriction analysis. 1 μ l of ECO RI, 1 μ l of Multi Core buffer (Promega) and 3 μ l of ddH₂O were mixed with 5 μ l of plasmid DNA and tube was incubated at 37 °C for 60-90 minutes. Hydrolyzed plasmids were separated on 1% agarose gel (see electrophoresis).

Sequencing

Sequencing reaction was carried out using Big Dye[®] Terminator v3.1 Cycle Sequencing Kit (Applied Biosystems) according to manufacturers instructions and contained 200-300 ng of plasmid DNA and 3.2 pmol of sequencing primer (M13F or M13R). Amplification was made using T3 Thermocycler (Biometra). Sequencing reaction was performed using this program> Pre-denaturation 96 °C for 1 minute followed by 30cycles of: 96 °C for 1 minute, 50 °C for 30 seconds, 60 °C for 4 minutes. The reaction mixture was transferred to the 0.5 ml tube containing 2 µl of 100 mM EDTA, 2 µl of 3 M sodium acetate and 1 µl of glycogen. Then 60 µl of 96% ice cold (-20 °C) ethanol was added and tube was centrifuged at 4 °C at 140 000 rpm (g = 20600 m/s²) for 15 minutes. Small white pellet appeared after centrifugation. Supernatant was removed carefully and 200 µl of 70% ice cold (-20 °C) ethanol was added. Tube was centrifuged again at 4 °C at 140000 rpm (g = 20600 m/s²) for 10 minutes. Supernatant was discarded and pellet dried at room temperature until ethanol evaporated (30 – 60 minutes). Samples were stored at -20 °C until analyzed in ABI 3130 (Applied Biosystems).

PFGE (pulse field gel electrophoresis)

To separate large DNA molecules pulse field gel electrophoresis (PFGE) was used. This technique enables to separates even whole chromosomes. In this case PFGE was employed in determination of size of the mitochondrial genome. PFGE was carried out using CHEF-DR[®] III (BioRad). After optimalisation, following conditions were chosen: initial switchtime = 0.1 s, final switchtime = 1.5 s, current = 6 V/cm, runtime = 13.5 h, temperature = 14 °C. Living cells were embedded in 1.5% low-melting agarose (Sigma). Mixture was transferred to plug molds and allowed to solidify. Plugs were transferred to PFGE lysis buffer (see appendix) and incubated at 50 °C overnight. Digested molds were stored in SET buffer (see appendix) in 4 °C until use. Electrophoresis was run at 1% (w/v) agarose gel in 0.5x TBE buffer, 2-log ladder (New England Biolabs) and 48 kb ladder (BioRad) were chosen as molecular markers. At these conditions DNA of the size ranging from 4 kb to 50 kb could be detected.

Southern blot and hybridization

After the PFGE agarose gel was stained using ethidium bromide (0.5µg/ml) in 0.5x TBE buffer for 30 minutes. Then DNA was visualized on UV transiluminator (TFX-35.M Vilber Lourmat). Photos of gels were taken by digital camera (Kodak) and processed by software Kodak Digital science 1D version 3.0.2. Pieces of the gel corresponding to size markers bands were cut out to be able to detect marker later on the membrane. Then DNA was blotted on the BioBondTM-Plus NYLON MEMBRANE (Sigma) via alkalic transfer (Sambrook and Russell 2001). *Cox1* gene DNA was radioactively labeled using HexaLabelTM DNA Labelling Kit (Fermentas) according to manufacturer's instructions and probe was purified on MicroSpinTM G-25 columns (Amersham). Hybridization was carried out according to (Sambrook and Russell 2001) in phosphate buffers at 65°C. Results were visualized using TYPHOON 9410 (Amersham Biosciences)

Primer design

Except of primers for GAPDH gene adopted from (Harper and Keeling 2003), all primers are original. They were designed according to aminoacid/nucleotide alignments aligned in Meg Align (DNASTAR, Inc.).

Processing of sequences

Raw sequence data were viewed by Sequence Scanner 1.0 (Applied Biosystems) and later processed by DNASTAR programs 5.06 (DNASTAR, Inc.) namely EditSeq and SeqMan II. Sequence identification was carried out by NCBI BlastSearch (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/BLAST/).

Sequence alignment

Aminoacid sequences were aligned in MAFFT (Katoh et al. 2002, 2005) using L-INS-i algorithm at default conditions. L-INS-i is iterative refinement method incorporating local pairwise alignment information and is designed to align a set of sequences containing flanking sequences around one alignable domain. Nucleotide datasets were aligned in BioEdit (Hall 1999) using clustal W algorithm at default conditions as aminoacids and translated back to nucleotides. Alignments were manually edited in BioEdit (Hall 1999), unaligned and ambiguously aligned positions were discarded from the dataset.

Phylogenetic analyses

Datasets were analyzed by maximum parsimony (MP) using PAUP^{*} 4.10b (Swofford 2001) and by maximum likelihood (ML) using PHYML 2.4.2 (Guindon and Gascuel 2003). Datasets in nucleotides were computed using LogDet-paralinear distances (LogDet) method in PAUP^{*} 4.10b (Swofford 2001). To cope with saturation on the amino acid level, AsaturA (Van de Peer et al 2002) was also employed. Amino acid substitution models were inferred using ProtTest 1.3 (Abascal et al 2005). Substitution models for nucleotide data were inferred using Modeltest3.7 (Posada and Crandall 1998).

For MP analyses heuristic searches were carried out using TBR (Tree Bisection Reconnection) branch swapping and nodes supports were assessed by 100 bootstrap replicates per dataset. Gaps were treated as missing and transversion/transition ratio was default 1:1. ML analyses were performed with appropriate models (cpREV for *cox 1*, WAG for GAPDH) and GTR+ Γ +I with gamma distribution in 6 categories was used for all nucleotide datasets and bootstrap analysis was run at 100 replicates. ASA analyses were performed with appropriate models with four distinct cutoff

values also run at 100 bootstrap replicates. Changes in tree topologies were then searched among different methods and datasets.

Resuts

cox 1 gene

Full length *cox 1* gene was amplified and sequenced from total DNA. Coding sequence was 1182 bp long (for nucleotide frequencies see table 3 bellow).

| Species | %A | %G | %T | %C | %A+T | %C+G |
|----------------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|
| RM12 | 27.75 | 13.28 | 44.67 | 14.30 | 72.42 | 27.58 |
| Coccidia | 25.85 | 17.66 | 38.96 | 17.50 | 64.82 | 35.16 |
| Haemosporidia | 30.14 | 14.86 | 42.16 | 12.84 | 72.29 | 27.70 |
| Piroplasmida | 26.89 | 18.71 | 41.67 | 12.74 | 68.55 | 31.45 |
| Dinoflagellata | 26.88 | 15.03 | 40.03 | 18.04 | 66.91 | 33.07 |
| Oomycetes | 25.59 | 18.28 | 44.32 | 11.76 | 69.91 | 30.09 |
| Haptophytes | 23.42 | 19.50 | 40.13 | 16.95 | 63.55 | 36.45 |
| Cryptophytes | 24.45 | 19.82 | 40.34 | 15.38 | 64.79 | 35.21 |
| Brown algae | 22.17 | 20.61 | 39.98 | 17.24 | 62.15 | 37.85 |
| Green algae | 25.52 | 19.51 | 36.91 | 18.06 | 62.43 | 37.57 |
| Red algae | 27.44 | 18.30 | 39.85 | 14.41 | 67.29 | 32.71 |

Table 3: Nucleotide frequencies in *cox 1* gene of RM12 andgroups of organisms used in phylogenetic analyses

Moreover, regions downstream and upstream were sequenced too. 127 bp downstream from the end of the coding sequence 2 different regions were found suggesting that *cox1* gene is present at least at two different molecules within mitochondrial genome (see figure1).



Figure. 1: *cox1* gene of RM12 and its flanking regions

Phylogenetic analyses of cox 1 gene

Phylogenetic analyses were preformed using methods described in the chapter material and methods. Since Piroplasmida, Ciliates and unfortunately RM12 created long branches, several datasets excluding some of these taxa were examined to infer topology behavior (see table 4). Coccidia were also included in this analysis because they tend to jump at the base of dinoflagellate and apicomplexan clades. Heamosporidia were not excluded from the dataset because if excluded, too few apicomplexans would remain in dataset. Phylogenetic trees were computed from amino acids sequences. Phylogeny was inferred from nucleotide data only from dataset 6.

| DATASET | Haemo | Piroplas | Coccidia | Ciliata | Dinoflag | RM12 |
|---------|---------|----------|----------|---------|----------|------|
| | sporidi | mida | | | ellata | |
| | a | | | | | |
| 1 | YES | YES | YES | YES | YES | NO |
| 2 | YES | NO | YES | YES | YES | NO |
| 3 | YES | NO | YES | YES | YES | YES |
| 4 | YES | YES | YES | NO | YES | NO |
| 5 | YES | NO | YES | NO | YES | NO |
| 6 | YES | NO | YES | NO | YES | YES |
| 7 | YES | YES | YES | YES | YES | YES |
| 8 | YES | YES | YES | NO | YES | YES |
| 9 | YES | NO | NO | YES | YES | YES |

Table 4: This table shows occurrenceof particular taxa in computed datasets



Figure 2: Phylogenetic tree constructed using AsaturA inferred from the dataset 2 of *cox 1* gene. Bootstrap supports represent values from AsaturA and MP respectively.

Topologies were inferred from amino acids using ML, MP and AsaturA (five distinct cutoff values), for nucleotide data (i. e. dataset 6) ML, MP, and LogDet were used.

Amino acid trees: ML trees supported monophyly of dinoflagellates and apicomplexans and also supported alveolates (e. g. datasets 1, 2, 3, 7, 9). However, MP and AsaturA found that apicomplexans do not form sister clade to dinoflagellates (figure2). In ML trees monophyly of apicomplexans was supported. RM12 when included in the dataset decreased bootstrap supports between apicomplexans and dinoflagellates (figures 3 and 4) in ML trees and apicomplexan clade in fact collapsed. When changing content of datasets, RM12 appeared basal either to apicomplexans or to dinoflagellates however these positions were not supported. Datasets 3 and 6 analyzed using AsaturA showed branching of RM12 with Coccidia (figure 5) assessed by bootstrap values of 57 and 73 respectively.

Nucleotide trees: Topology inferred from nucleotides was similar to that from amino acid data. It was computed only from sequences of the dataset 6, to avoid long branching artifact. In ML and MP trees position of RM12 could not been inferred

due too low bootstrap support. LogDet distance method revealed strong clustering of RM12 with apicomplexans placing RM12 at the root of Coccidia. Moreover, using LogDet distances, artificial polyphyly of apicomplexans disappeared and they formed supported monophyletic clade (figure 6). Topologies were inferred from amino acids using ML, MP and AsaturA (five distinct cutoff values), for nucleotide data (i. e. dataset 6) ML, MP, and LogDet were used.



Figure 3: Phylogenetic trees inferred using ML method from *cox 1* gene. The tree above displays supported branching of apicomplexan parasites. The tree bellow shows influence of RM12 on the topology and bootstrap support



Figure 4: Phylogenetic trees inferred using ML method from *cox 1* gene. The tree above displays supported branching of apicomplexan parasites. The tree bellow shows influence of RM12 on the topology and bootstrap support.



Figure 5: Phylogenetic trees constructed using AsaturA from *cox 1* gene, datasets 3 (above tree) and 6 (bellow tree). Cutoff values are 2871 and 2209 respectively.



Figure 6: Phylogenetic tree constructed using LogDet distances from *cox 1* gene. It was computed from nucleotide data. Taxon sampling corresponded to dataset 6. Third codon positions were discarded from the dataset. The tree indicates affiliation of RM12 with Coccidia.

Mitochondrial genome size

Size of the mitochondrial genome should have been estimated using radioactively labeled *cox 1* coding sequence. Hybridization resulted in smear ranging from 4 to 50 kbps with highest intensity about 16 kbps (Figure 7). This result suggests that there must be some kind of complex organization of the mitochondrial DNA in RM12.



Figure 7: Result of Southern blot hybridization with radioactively labeled *cox1* probe

Histone H2B

Partial sequence of the histone H2B was amplified from cDNA and was 197 bp long. Sequence was identified using blast search and aligned with H2B histone sequences from chromalveolates (figure 8).

| 1 | - 1 7 7 7 | | ' ' ' ' | | ' ' ' | "" | • • • • | ' '' | ** ** | "" | • • • • | | * * * * | 1 * * * | | 11 |
|--------------------------|--------------------|----------|-----------------------|-------|----------------------|-------|---------|---------------------|----------------------|-------|-----------|-------|----------------------|---------|----------------------|-----|
| i | • | | 10 | | 20 | | | 30 | | 40 | | 50 |) | | 60 | |
| RM12 | KQV | HP E T G | IS <mark>KK</mark> SI | MSIMN | IS <mark>F</mark> IN | DIF | DRL. | AN <mark>E</mark> A | T <mark>RLI</mark> P | FNKK | RTLSS | REIQ! | ' <mark>A</mark> VR | LMPP | G <mark>e</mark> fak | (HA |
| Toxoplasma gondii | KQV | HP E T G | VSKKS) | MSIMN | IS <mark>F</mark> IN | DIF | DRL/ | ADE A | VRLIP | YNKK | RTLSS | REIQ! | ' <mark>A</mark> VR | LLLP | GELSK | (HA |
| Theileria parva | KQV | HP E T G | VSKKS) | MSIMN | IS <mark>F</mark> IN | IDVF | DRL. | \L <mark>E</mark> A | T <mark>R</mark> LIP | YNKK | STLSS | REVQ! | ' <mark>A</mark> VR | LLLP | GELSK | (HA |
| Plasmodium falciparum | KQV | HP E T G | VTKKSI | MNIMN | IS <mark>F</mark> IN | DIF | DRLV | /TEA | T <mark>R</mark> LIP | YNKK. | RTLSS | REIQ: | ' <mark>A</mark> VR | LLLP | GELSK | (HA |
| Parametium caudatum | RQV | HPEIG | IS <mark>RKA</mark> | MNIMN | IS <mark>F</mark> IN | DIF | DRI. | ۱L <mark>E</mark> A | SKLVR | FNKR | RTLSS | REIQ! | ' <mark>A</mark> VK | LLLP | GELAR | .HA |
| Euplotes crassus | KQV | HP E T G | VSKKS) | MSIMN | IS <mark>F</mark> IN | DIF | EKI. | AL <mark>E</mark> A | SKLVR | YNKK | HTLSS | REVQ! | ' <mark>A</mark> VR | LLLP | GELAK | (HA |
| Tetrahymena pyriformis | KQV | H₽DVG | ISKKA | MNIMN | IS <mark>F</mark> IN | ID SF | ERI. | /TE2 | SKLVR | FNKR | RTLSS | REVQ: | ' <mark>a</mark> vki | LLLP | GELAR | (HA |
| Phytopthora ramorum | RQV | HP E T G | ISKRG | MSIMN | IS <mark>F</mark> IN | DIF | ERI. | ASEA | GKLSR | YNKK | STLSS | REIQ. | ' <mark>A</mark> VR | LMLP | GELAK | (HA |
| Phaeodactylum tricornutu | m <mark>KQV</mark> | HP D T G | ISKKG | MSIMN | IS <mark>F</mark> IN | DIF | ERI. | ATEA | GKL <mark>A</mark> T | YNKK | ATLSS | REIQ! | ' <mark>A</mark> VR | LMLP | GELAK | (HA |
| Thalassiosira pseudonana | KQV | HPDT G | ISKKG | MSIMN | ISFIN | DIF | ERI. | \GEA | GKLSI | YNKK | ATLSS | REIQ! | ' <mark>A</mark> VR | LMLP | GELAR | (HA |

Figure 8: Multiple alignment of H2B histone sequences

Histone H2A

Partial sequence of histone H2A was amplified from cDNA. It measured 177 bps. Histone sequence from dinoflagellates *Crypthecodinium cohnii* and *Alexandrium tamarense* evidently differed a lot from that from RM12 which rather affiliated with other alveolates.

| | | | • • • • • • • • | **** **** | •••• | | * * * * |
|---------------------------|-------------------------|--|----------------------------|---|---|------------|---------|
| | • | 10 | 20 | 30 | 40 | 50 | I |
| Alexandrium tamarense | VQRFAKA | ALRKGGY <mark>C</mark> K | RL <mark>AA</mark> GGSIYI | TAVIEYITA <mark>E</mark> | IL <mark>ELA</mark> GNS <mark>A</mark> KE | ARKQRIIPRI | IIQL |
| Crypthecodinium cohnii | I <mark>hrf</mark> tki | VLKR <mark>GGYA</mark> K | RVGLTGSVMI | TSVVEYVAAE | IL <mark>ELA</mark> GNAVKD | QRKNRIMPRI | IIQL |
| RM12 | VGRIARI | FLKQ <mark>GRYA</mark> K | RVGS <mark>G</mark> SPVYI | AAVL <mark>E</mark> YLCAE | IL <mark>ELA</mark> GNAAKD | HKKTRIIPRI | IVQL |
| Toxoplasma gondii | VGRIGR | /LKK <mark>G</mark> RYAK | RVG <mark>AGA</mark> PVYM | IAAVL <mark>E</mark> YL <mark>CA</mark> E | IL <mark>ELA</mark> GNAARD | HKKTRIIPRI | IQL |
| Cryptosporidium parvum | V <mark>GRVA</mark> R | /LKK <mark>G</mark> RYAK | RI <mark>GAAA</mark> PVYI | AAVL <mark>E</mark> YLCAE | LL <mark>ELA</mark> GNAARD | AKKTRITPR | QIQL |
| Plasmodium falciparum | VGRIGR | /LKK <mark>G</mark> KYAK | RVG <mark>A</mark> GAPVYI | 'AAVL <mark>E</mark> YLCAE | IL <mark>ELA</mark> GNAARD | NKKSRITPR | IQL |
| Plasmodium yoeli yoeli | VGRIGR | /LKK <mark>G</mark> KYAK | RVG <mark>A</mark> GAPVYI | AAVL <mark>E</mark> YL <mark>C</mark> AE | IL <mark>ELA</mark> GNAARD | NKKSRITPRI | IIQL |
| Theileria parva | VGRVGR | /LKN <mark>G</mark> RYAK | RVG <mark>A</mark> GAPVYI | 'AAVL <mark>E</mark> YLVA <mark>E</mark> | VL <mark>ELA</mark> GNAARD | NKKSRIVPRI | LQL |
| Tetrahymena thermophila | V <mark>G</mark> RI SRI | TLK <mark>HG</mark> RYS <mark>E</mark> | RVGT <mark>GA</mark> PVYI | 'AAVL <mark>E</mark> YLAA <mark>E</mark> | VL <mark>ELA</mark> GNAAKI | NKKTRIVPR | ILL |
| Paramecium caudatum | VGRVSR | LKQ <mark>GRYT</mark> E | RVG <mark>A</mark> GAPVYI | SAVL <mark>E</mark> YLAAE | VL <mark>ELA</mark> GNAAKI | NKKNRINPRI | ILL |
| Entodinium caudatum | V <mark>GRIA</mark> R | /LKT <mark>G</mark> KYA <mark>E</mark> | RVG <mark>A</mark> GAPVYI | AAVL <mark>E</mark> YLAAE | VL <mark>ELA</mark> GNAAKE | NKKTRIIPRI | IQL |
| Phytopthora ramorum | V <mark>GRVA</mark> R | /LKK <mark>G</mark> RYAQ | RTGGG <mark>A</mark> PVYM | IAAVL <mark>E</mark> YL <mark>CA</mark> E | IL <mark>ELA</mark> GNAARD | HKKTRIIPRI | HIQM |
| Phytopthora sojae | VGRVAR | LKK <mark>GRYA</mark> Q | RIGGG <mark>A</mark> PVYM | IAAVL <mark>E</mark> YLCAE | IL <mark>ELA</mark> GNAARD | HKKTRIIPRI | HIQM |
| Phaeodactylum tricornutum | VGRIGR | /LRQ <mark>G</mark> KYAT | RMG <mark>AG</mark> AP VYI | AAVL <mark>E</mark> YLCAE | IL <mark>ELAGNAA</mark> RD | NKKSRIVPR | ITL |
| Thalassiosira pseudonana | VGRIGR | IRQ <mark>G</mark> KYAT | RM <mark>GAG</mark> APVYI | AAVL <mark>E</mark> YL <mark>C</mark> AE | IL <mark>ELAGNAA</mark> RD | NKKSRIVPR | ITL |

Figure 9: Multiple alignment of H2A histone sequences

GAPDH (glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase)

Partial sequence of GAPDH gene 996 bp in length was amplified from cDNA (For base frequencies see table 5). First, sequence was examined using MP and ML to infer whether is encoding enzyme employed in cytosol or in chloroplast. Phylogenetic tree was computed from cytosolic, plastid-targeted, mitochondrion-targeted and bacterial versions of GAPDH. However unsupported, both MP and ML placed this sequence within cytosolic versions of this gene (figure 10). Then, another dataset was made comprising only cytosolic forms of GAPDH from chromalveolates. In ML tree particular groups of Apicomplexa were not grouped together and RM12 and *Cryptosporidium* jumped at the base of dinoflagellate clade. Haemosporidans were affiliated with Ciliates (bootstrap value 55). MP grouped together species of Apicomplexa (excluding *Cryptosporidium*) with bootstrap support of 66. A SATUR A grouped together all apicomplexans (except *Cryptosporidium*) with RM12 at basal position, however, this topology was not supported.

| Species | %A | %G | %T | %C | % A+T | %C+G |
|----------------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|
| Haemosporidia | 33.38 | 19.82 | 29.04 | 17.75 | 62.43 | 37.57 |
| Coccidia | 20.63 | 27.86 | 21.60 | 29.91 | 42.23 | 57.77 |
| Piroplasmida | 25.83 | 25.69 | 21.72 | 26.76 | 47.55 | 52.45 |
| Dinoflagellata | 21.92 | 30.01 | 20.47 | 27.60 | 42.39 | 57.61 |
| RM12 | 20.65 | 27.10 | 21.25 | 31.09 | 41.90 | 58.10 |
| Ciliophora | 27.50 | 22.48 | 25.94 | 24.08 | 53.44 | 46.56 |
| stramenopiles | 19.99 | 28.37 | 23.84 | 27.79 | 43.84 | 56.16 |

Table 5: Nucleotide rates of GAPDH gene among chromalveolates used for inferring phylogeny

When only Hematosporidia and RM12 were left in the dataset, RM12 jumped at the base of dinoflagellate clade with bootstrap support MP=74, AsaturA=90, ML=77 and Haematosporidia even strongly affiliated with Ciliates MP=74, AsaturA=65, ML=86 (figure 11). When on the one hand Heamosporidia were excluded and on the other hand other apicomplexan species were included, both in MP and ML trees species of Apicomplexa clustered together, however unsupported, and RM12 appeared either at the base of Dinoflagellates (MP) or as an ancestor of Dinoflagellates and Apicomplexa (ML). None of these positions were supported. AsaturA in this case did not supported apicomplexan clade and placed RM12 at the base of dinoflagellates. Trees computed from nucleotides (even when the third codon positions were removed) behaved similar e.g. strong affiliation of Heamatosporidia with ciliates was observed and position of RM12 could not be inferred. Then, LogDet was used to further investicate signal of this gene. Third codon positions were removed. In LogDet trees Hematosporidia still clustered with ciliates. When Haematozoa and Cryptosporidium were removed, RM12 created supported grouping with Toxoplasma and Theileria species (figure 12).



Figure 10: Phylogenetic tree inferred using ML method. It clusters together sequence acquired from RM12 with cytoplasmatic forms of GAPDH. Supports above branches are from ML and MP respectively.



Figure 11: The phylogenetic tree constructed using ML from cytosolic versions of GAPDH sampled within chromalveolates. Bootstrap supports from MP and AsaturA (cutoff = 3.035) are also shown.



Figure 12: Phylogenetic tree constructed using LogDet distances from GAPDH translated to nucleotides. Third codon positions were removed. It shows RM 12 in basal position to *Toxoplasma* and *Theileria* species.

Discussion

While studying symbionts of stony coral *Plesiastrea versipora* the novel photosynthetic alveolate RM12 was isolated and described. It may represent either a free living organism or a minor symbiont somehow associated with this coral. It contains typical ultrastructural features of alveolates such as alveoli, and a unique complex chloroplast surrounded by four membranes, and pigmented with chlorophyll-a, and a novel form of isofucoxanthin. Interestingly, it contains no chlorophyll-c (Moore et al. unpublished).

Phylogenetic analyses based on nuclear encoded rRNA genes and plastid encoded SSU rRNA gene placed this alveolate at the root of apicomplexans and colpodellids respectively, and its chloroplast appeared at the root of apicoplasts. It has been also demonstrated on the case of chloroplast encoded protein psbA that RM12 encodes tryptophan by UGA codon instead of UGG in its chloroplast. Such feature has been observed only in apicoplasts of coccidia so far. Based on the phylogenetic position, photosynthetic character of the alveolate as well as the chloroplast codon usage it was suggested that the alveolate RM12 represents the closest photosynthetic relative to apicomplexan parasites and that its chloroplast share common ancestor with apicoplasts (Moore et al unpublished). In this work RM12 was further investigated to confirm or disapprove postulated phylogenetic position.

Affiliation of RM12 to apicomplexan parasites should be reflected in many various molecular characters. Apicomplexa possess not only unusual non-photosynthetic chloroplast, but also one of the smallest mitochondrial genomes. Therefore I decided to estimate the size of the genome using PFGE and hybridization with specific probe. To obtain the probe and some mitochondrial genes usable for phylogenetic reconstruction mitochondrial *cox1* gene was primarily chosen. There is sufficient taxon sampling in *cox1* in public databases allowing computing reasonable phylogenetic trees. Since phylogenetic analysis based on chloroplast genes has already been performed (Moore et al. unpublished) I wanted to look also at the mitochondrial evolution. *Cox 1* was amplified using uneven PCR method which allowed investigating of flanking regions of this gene. Nucleic acid hybridization

revealed some kind of complex organization of the mitochondrial genome of RM12. However, this result is not as much surprising since both groups of organisms to which RM12 could belong, Apicomplexa and Dinophyta, contain species displaying complex smear as mtDNA hybridization result. Mitochondrial DNA of malarial parasite *Plasmodium* is arranged mainly as polydisperse linear concatemers, therefore nucleic acid hybridization of undigested DNA resulted in smear ranging from ranging from 6 to 30 kbps (Preiser et al 1996). The only known mitochondrial genome organization within dinoflagellates so far is that of *Crypthecodinium cohnii* (Norman 2000, Norman and Gray 2001). This genome consists of heterogenous mixture of molecules smaller than 10 kbps. If I compare my results with those from *Plasmodium* and *Crypthecodinium*, hybridization pattern of RM12 is completely different (figure 13) and requires further investigation. However, it is evident that *cox 1* gene is present at least at two different molecules (see results).



Figure 13: Comparison of three Southern blot hybridization results of RM12 (left), *Plasmodium falciparum* (in the middle) and *Crypthecodinium cohnii* (right). Photos were adopted from Preiser et al (1996) and Norman and Gray (2001).

Phylogeny based on amino acid sequences of *cox1* did not to lead to any stable and supported phylogenetic position. Alveolate RM12 appeared to be related to both,

dinoflagellates and apicomplexans depending on the method of inference and taxon sampling used. The bootstrap support did not overcome 47% in both possible positions. The only acceptable supports were obtained only when nucleotide alignment was used and processed by LogDet-paralinear distances. In such a case RM12 branched together with Apicomplexa with bootstrap support of 77% for the apicomplexan clade. However, in this particular case, the branching order showed relation of RM12 mitochondrion to mitochondrion from coccidia with bootstrap 73%.

The second molecular feature, which is typical for dinoflagellates, is the absence of histones. Dinoflagellates were thought they lack histones at all, however, recent EST projects revealed their expression (see introduction). Within dinoflagellates only the H2A histone has been identified in ESTs from *Alexadrium tamarense* and *Crypthecodinium cohnii* (Hackett et al 2005, Sanchez-Puerta et al 2007). Therefore we could expect the lack of histones or presence of highly divergent homologues in RM12 in the case that RM12 is dinoflagellate. However, I was able to amplify histones H2A and H2B from cDNA of alveolate RM12 and those could be aligned to any eukaryotic homologues with very high similarity as usual for typical eukaryotic histones. At the same time, dinoflagellate H2A homologues show quite high diversity when compared to other eukaryotes including RM12. Moreover, histone H2B has not been identified in any of dinoflagellate so far. Based on amplification of the gene encoding H2B protein from RM12 and the level of identity H2A to other eukaryotic homologues, we can suggest that this species is not a dinoflagellate.

GAPDH is the protein coding gene of the first choice when inferring phylogenetic history of chromalveolates (eg. Fast et al 2001, Harper and Keeling 2003, Takishita et al 2004, 2005). It represents essential and rather conserved gene with very good taxon sampling in public databases, which was used by Fast et al. (2001) and Harper and Keeling (2003) to support Chromalveolate hypothesis. I decided to use at least one originally cytosolic gene (gene originating in host eukaryotic nucleus) for

searching the phylogenetic position of RM12. Four different methods for inferring phylogeny were used in this work. This approach minimizes impact of computing artifacts, because each method has its weak spots. Phylogenetic inference is always problematic if both short and long branches occur together in the underlying tree. ML and MP failed to resolve position of RM12 based on GAPDH sequences. Apicomplexan clade generally collapsed in ML trees when RM12 was implemented into the dataset. AsaturA (method designed to deal with saturation of amino acids) and MP trees showed artificial branching of particular orders within Apicomplexa. However, in the case of datasets 3 and 6 AsaturA revealed branching of RM12 with order Coccidia. This result was further confirmed by phylogenetic inference using LogDet-paralinear distances computed from nucleotides in the dataset 6. LogDet method was developed to treat dissimilar nucleotide frequencies, which bias phylogenetic analyses. Topology obtained by LogDet is similar to that computed using LogDet from plastid encoded SSU rRNA (see figure14). Similar branching order was found by AsaturA in some *cox1* trees. Although different genes were used to infer phylogeny of RM12 (plastid SSU rRNA gene, cox1 gene, and cytosolic GAPDH) LogDet and AsaturA both designed to deal with unusual sequences agreed on the same topology.

Figure 14 contains secret data and is to be found only in original master thesis version stored at the Faculty of Biological Sciences University of South Bohemia in České Budějovice

Figure 14: The phylogenetic tree computed from plastid encoded SSU rRNA gene adopted from Moore et al (unpublished). Version A is the tree computed using Bayesian inference. Values above branches represent posterior probabilities and maximum likelihood bootstrap supports respectively. Asterisks demonstrate maximal support of both Bayesian inference and maximum likelihood. Version B shows branching of Apicomplexa computed using LogDet distances. Codon usage for tryptophan of particular apicomplexans is also showed.

Phylogenetic analysis assigned acquired GAPDH sequence to the cytosolic form of GAPDH. Clustering was not supported at all, however, this part of the tree was not supported even in the work of Harper and Keeling (2003). In trees computed from dataset reduced only to chromalveolates, strong artificial branching of *Plasmodium* spp. with ciliates appeared and this artifact was not broken even when using LogDet method. If I look at the base frequencies (table 5) extremely high AT content can be observed in case of Haemosporidia. That is usually reflected in the amino acid bias as well, which is even harder to eliminate when amino acids are use to infer phylogeny. Moreover, ciliates also have rather high AT content making their clustering with haemosporidians much more comprehensible and clearly artifactual. However, trees based on amino acid GAPDH sequences without haemosporidians forming long branches placed RM12 to be related to dinoflagellates with no support. On the other side, using nucleotide sequences LogDet method revealed clustering of RM12 with Coccidia and Piroplasmida. When I take into account also tree topologies obtained from other genes such as nuclear SSU and LSU rRNA sequences, the affiliation of RM12 with dinoflagellates is likely to be an artifact. Since nucleotide rates among taxa are different and probably caused clustering of Haemosporidians with Ciliates, tree topology acquired using LogDet appears most reliable.

RM12 represents a novel species which was placed at the root of the Apicomplexa by rDNA phylogenies (Moore et all. unpublished, Chrudimsky et al 2006). Affiliation of RM 12 to apicomplexan parasites was supported by presence of H2B histone in RM12 genome and similarity of its highly conserved H2A histone to that from Apicomplexa. There are three possible phylogenetic positions of the RM12. The first of them is the basal position to Apicomplexa. As I have mentioned above, this branching was supported by nuclear SSU rRNA (RM12 branched at the root of colpodellids) and nuclear LSU rRNA trees. These trees strongly support this topology, which was also confirmed by Approximately Unbiased (Shimodaira and Hasegawa 2001, Shimodaira 2002) tests. The second possibility is that RM12 is basal to order Coccidia. This is congruent with LogDet trees computed from cox1 gene and plastid SSU rRNA respectively. However, we must take into consideration that plastid evolution could be different from nuclear and that the same nuclear lineages may host various plastids. LogDet tree computed from GAPDH gene nucleotide sequences can not either confirm or deny this topology because haemosporidians had to be discarded from the dataset. It shows only that RM12 is related to apicomplexans rather then to dinoflagellates. The last possibility is represented by possible close relationship between RM12 and dinoflagellates. However, all the other results characterizing RM12, such as presence or regular histones, codon usage in the chloroplast and LogDet based phylogenies contraindicate that this alveolate is dinoflagellate.

It seems that RM12 uses exclusively UGA codon to encode tryptophan in its chloroplast (as inferred from *psbA* and *tufA* gene, Moore at al. unpublished and Janouškovec et al. unpublished respectively) and shares this feature with coccidian parasites. However, it has to be noted that coccidian plastids may use both codons as shown in the case of Toxoplasma gondii. If the correct position of RM12 was at the root of the apicomplexan clade and we assumed monophyly of the apicoplast, it would require change in codon usage from UGA to UGG in orders Haemosporidia and Piroplasmida and reverse change in Coccidia representing derived group within Apicomplexa. Although this scenario does not seem to be parsimonious the usage of both codons in coccidian plastid makes this reversion possible. However, whole conundrum can be easily explained by polyphyly of the apicoplasts. Evidences for apicoplast monophyly are not so strong and the main arguments are the gene content and order within apicoplast genomes (Denny et al. 1998). If both endosymbionts would be of the same origin (red) but required independently, then we would probably get very similar results of gene content and order within genomes originating from closely related sources and passing through similar processes such as lose of photosynthesis and adaptation to parasitic life style. The second way how to explain UGA codon usage of both RM12 and Coccidia is synapomorphy of this trait.

If the correct position of RM12 was basal to Coccidia, then there would be no need to assume polyphyly of apicoplasts and evolution of apicomplexans would correspond to that of their plastid. Primitive apicomplexan orders such as Haemosporidia and Piroplasmida would use UGG codons while derived Coccidia and RM12 UGA codons. Such scenario would necessarily require two independent losses of photosynthesis in ancestors of coccidia and haemosporidia respectively. Despite the fact that existence of photosynthetic coccidians may look funny, this possibility should not be overlooked. Though nuclear encoded SSU and LSU rRNA genes did not support this version, cox1 did. The mitochondrion likely emerged nearly at the same time as nucleus (Grey 1999) and mitochondrial genes are appropriate for inferring phylogeny of the host cell despite their organellar origin (Lang et al 1998, 1999). Phylogenetic position of alveolate RM12 in this case would further mean that parasitism within Apicomplexa originated in multiple independent events. At this point neither of these two alternatives can not be responsibly rejected since evidence from nuclear rDNAs and mitochondrial cox 1 are contradictory and simple conclusion from all observations we made does not exist.

Conclusions

Phylogenetic analyses of the novel alveolate RM12 based on *cox1* and GAPDH sequences failed to favor any of all possible topologies, which came into question. Determining of the accurate phylogeny of this species would require investigation of much more genes.

Though phylogenies based on *cox1* and GAPDH genes did not resolved position of RM12 unambiguously, it can be inferred from supporting evidence such as the presence of regular histones and codon usage in chloroplast that RM12 is much closely related to apicomplexans than to dinoflagellates. It is the closest photosynthetic relative of apicomplexan parasites known so far. Existence of RM12 rise many question about apicomplexan phylogeny and mainly about origin of their plastid. Discovery of the close photosynthetic relative of apicomplexans represents long time seeking missing link, which will allow studying of the apicoplast evolution in much wider context then it has been possible so far.

References

ABASCAL F., ZARDOVA R., POSADA D. (2005). ProtTest: Selection of best-fit models of protein evolution. *Bioinformatics* **21**: 2104-2105.

ALLEN J. R., ROBERTS T. M., LOEBLICH A. R., KLOTZ L. C. (1975). Characterization of the DNA from the dinoflagellate *Cryptecodinium cohnii* and implications for nuclear organization. *Cell* **6**: 161-169.

ARCHIBALD J. M., KEELING P. J. (2002). Recycled plastids: a green movement in eukaryotic evolution. *Trends Genet* 18: 557-584.

ARCHIBALD J. M., LONGET D., PAWLOWSKI J. KEELING P. J. (2002). A novel polyubiquitin structure in Cercozoa and Faraminifera: evidence for a new eukaryotic supergroup. *Mol Biol Evol* **20**: 62-66.

ANDERSSON S. G. E., ZOMORODIPOUR A., ANDERSSON J. O., SICHERITZ-PONTEN T., ALSMARK U. C., PODOWSKI R. M., NASLUND A. K., ERIKSON A. S., WINKLER H. H., KURLAND C. G. (1998). The genome sequence of *Rickettsia prowazekii* and the origin of mitochondria. *Nature* **396**: 133-140.

BARBROOK A. C., HOWE C. J. (2000). Minicircular plastid DNA in the dinoflagellate Amphidinium operculatum. Mol Gen Genet 263: 152-158.

BARBROOK A. C., SYMINGTON H., NISBET R. E. R., LARKUM A., HOWE C. J. (2001). Organisation and expression of the plastid genome of the dinoflagellate *Amphidinium operculatum. Mol Genet Genomics* **266**: 632-638.

BEN-HAIM Y. AND ROSENBERG E. (2002). A novel *Vibrio* sp. pathogen of the coral *Pocillopora damicornis. Mar Biol* **141**: 47-55.

BLACKMAN M.J. AND BANNISTER L.H. (2001). Apical organelles of Apicomplexa: biology and isolation by subcellular fractionation. *Mol Biochem. Parasitol* **117**: 11-25.

BLANCHARD J. L. AND HICKS J. S. (1999). The non-photosynthetic plastid in malaria parasites and other apicomplexans is derived from outside the green plastid lineage. *J Eukaryot Microbiol* **46**: 367-375.

BODYL A. (2005). Do plastid-related characters support the chromalveolate hypothesis? *J Phycol* **41**: 712-719.

BOWSHER C.G., TOBIN A. K. (2001). Compartmentation of metabolism within mitochondria and plastids. *J Exp Bot* **52**: 513-527.

BROWN B. E. (2000). The significance of pollution in eliciting the bleaching response in symbiotic cnidarians. *Int J Envir Pollut* **13**: 392-415.

BUDDEMEIER R. W. AND FAUTIN D. G. (1993). Coral bleaching as an adaptive mechanism: a testable hypothesis. *Bioscience* **43**: 320-326.

CAVALIER-SMITH T. (1999). principles of protein and lipid targeting in secondary symbiogenesis: euglenoid, dinoflagellate and sporozoan plastid origins and the eukaryotic family tree. *J Eukaryot Microbiol* **46**: 347-366.

CHAPUT H., WANG Y., MORSE D. (2002). Poloyadenelytad transcripts containing random gene fragments expressed in dinoflagellate mitochondria. *Protist* 153: 111-122.

CHEN X, WU R. (1997). Direct amplification of unknown genes and fragments by Uneven polymerase chain reaction. *Gene* **185**: 195-199.

CHESNICK J. M., KOOISTRA W. H. C. F., WELLBROCK U., MEDLIN L. K. (1997). Ribosomal RNA analysis indicates a bentic pennate diatom ancestry for the endosymbionts of the dinoflagellates *Peridinium foliaceum* and *Peridinium balticum* (Pyrrhophyta). *J Eukaryot Microbiol* **44**: 314-320.

CHRUDIMSKY T., JANOUSKOVEC J., WRIGHT S., MOORE R. B., VANCOVA M., LOGSDON J. M., CARTER D., OBORNIK M. (2006). Alveolate RM12, a photosynthetic ancestor of Apicomplexa. ISEP 16th meeting, Wroclaw, Poland.

DELWICHE C.F. (1999). Tracing the thread of plastid diversity through the tapestry of life. *Am Nat* **154**: 164-177.

DENNY,P., PREISER,P., WILLIAMSON D. AND WILSON I. (1998) Evidence for a single origin of the 35 kb plastid DNA in Apicomplexans. *Protist* **149**: 51-59.

DOUGLAS A. E. (1998). Host benefit and the evolution of specialization in symbiosis. *Heredity* **81**: 599-603.

DOUGLAS A. E. (2003). Coral bleaching-how and why? Mar Pollut Bull 46: 385-392.

DOUZERY E. J. P., SNELL E. A., BAPTESTE E., DELSUC F., PHILIPPE H. (2004). The timing of eukaryotic evolution: Does a relaxed molecular clock reconcile proteins and fossils? *PNAS* **43**: 15386-15391.

DOMOTOR S. L. AND D'ELIA C. F. (1984). Nutrient uptake kinetics and growth of zooxanthellae maintained in the laboratory culture. *Mar Biol* **80**: 93-101.

EGEA N. AND LANG-UNASH N. (1995). Phylogeny of the large extrachromosomal DNA of organisms in the phylum Apicomplexa. *J Eukaryot Microbiol* **42**: 679-684.

ELLIS K. E., CLOUGH B., SALDANHA J. W., WILSON R. J. (2001). Nifs and Sufs in malaria. *Mol Microbiol* **41**: 973-981.

ESSER C., AHMADINEJAD N., WIEGAND C., ROTTE C., SEBASTIANI F., GELIUS-DIETRICH G., HENZE K., KRETSCHMAN E., RICHLY E., LEISTER D., BRYAND D., STEEL M. A., LOCKHART P. J., PENNY D., MARTIN W. (2004). A genome phylogeny for mitochondria among α -proteobacteria and a predominantly eubacterial ancestry of yeast nuclear genes. *Mol Biol Evol* **21**: 1643-1660.

FAEGIN J. E. (1992). The 6 kb element of *Plasmodium falciparum* encodes mitochondrial cytochrome genes. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* **52**: 145-148.

FAEGIN J. E. (1994). The extrachromosomal DNAs of apicomplexan parasites. *AnnuRevMicrobiol* **48**: 81-104.

FAEGIN J. E. (2000). Mitochondrial genomes diversity in parasites. *Int J Parasitol* **30**: 371-390.

FAEGIN J. E., MERICLE B. L., WERNER E., MORIS M. (1997). Identification of additional fragments encoded by the Plasmodium falciparum 6kb element. *Nucleic Acid Res* **25**: 438-446.

FALKOWSKI P. G., DUBINSKY Z., MUSCATINE L., MCCLOSKEY L. (1993). Population control in symbiotic corals. *BioSci* **43**: 606-611.

FALKOWSKI P. G., KATZ M. E., KNOLL A. H., QUIGG A., RAVEN J. A., SCHOFIELD O., TAYLOR F. J. R. (2004). The evolution of modern eukaryotic phytoplankton. *Science* **305**: 354-360.

FAST N. M., KISSINGER J. C., ROOS D. S., KEELING P. J. (2001). Nuclear-encoded, plastid-targeted genes suggest a single common origin for apicomplexan and dinoflagellate plastids. *Mol Biol Evol* **18**: 418-426.

FAST N. M., XUE L., BINGHAM S., KEELING P. J. (2002). Re-examining alveolate evolution using multiple protein molecular phylogenies. *J Eucaryot Microbiol* **49**: 30-37.

FENSOME R. A., TAYLOR F. R. J., NORRIS G., SERJEANT W. A. S., WHARTON D. I., WILLIAMS G. L. (1993). A classification of living and fossile dinoflagellates. *Micropaelontol Spec Publ* **7**: 1-351.

FITT W. K. AND TRENCH R. K. (1983). The relation of diel patterns of cell division to diel patterns of motility in the symbiotic dinoflagellate Symbiodinium (=Gymnodinium) microadriaticum (Freudenthal) in culture. *New Phytol* **94**: 421-433.

FITZGERALD L. M., SZMANT A. M. (1997). Biosynthesis of essential aminoacids by scleractenian corals. *Biochem J.* **322**: 213-221.

FUNES S., DAVIDSON E., REYES-PRIETO A., MAGALLÓN S., HERION P., KING M.
P., GONZALEZ-HALPHEN D. (2002). A green algal apicoplast ancestor. *Science* 298: 2155.

GABALDON T., HUYNEN M. A. (2003). Reconstruction of the protomitochondrial metabolism. *Science* **301**: 609.

GAJADHAR A. A., MARQARD W. C., HALL R., GUNDERSON J., ARIZTIA-CARMONA E., SOGIN M. L. (1991). Ribosomal RNA sequences of *Sarcocystis muris*, *Theileria annulata* and *Crypthecodinium cohni* reveal evolutionary relationships among apicomplexans, dinoflagellates and ciliates. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* **45**: 147-154.

GARDNER M. J., HALL N., FUNG E., WHITE O., BERRIMAN M., HYMAN R. W., CARLTON J. M., PAIN A., NELSON K. E., BOWMAN S., PAULSEN I. T., JAMES K., EISEN J. A., RUTHERFORD K., SALZBERG S. L., CRAIG A., KYES S., CHAN M. S., NENE V., SHALLOM S. J., SUH B., PETERSON J., ANGIUOLI S., PERTEA M., ALLEN J., SELENGUT J., HAFT D., MATHER M. W., VAIDYA A. B., MARTIN D. M., FAIRLAMB A. H., FRAUNHOLZ M. J., ROOS D. S., RALPH S. A., MC FADDEN G. I., CUMMINGS L. M., SUBRAMANIAN G. M., MUNGALL C., VENTER J. C., CARUCCI D. J., HOFFMAN S. L., NEWBOLD C., DAVIS R. W., FRASER C. M., BARRELL B. (2002). Genome sequence of the human malaria parasite *Plasmodium falciparum*. *Nature* **419**: 498-511.

GILLESPIE D. E., SALAZAR N. A., REHKOPF D. H., FAEGIN J. E. (1999). The fragmented ribosomal mitochondrial RNAs of Plasmodium falciparum nave short A tails. *Nucleic Acid Res* 27: 2416-2422.

GORNICKI P. (2003) Apicoplast fatty acid biosynthesis as a target for medical intervention in apicomplexan parasites. *Int J Parasitol* **33**: 885-896.

GRAHAM L. E., WILCOX L. W. (2000). Algae. Prentice-Hall,Inc., Upper Saddle River, NJ 07458.

GRAY M. W. (2003). Diversity and evolution of RNA editing systems. *IUBMB Life* 55: 227-233.

GRAY M. W., BURGER G., LANG B. F. (1999). Mitochondrial evolution. Science 283: 1476-1481.

GRAY M. W., SPENCER D. F. (1996). Organellar evolution. In RobertsD. M., Sharp P., Alderson G., Collins M. A.(eds.) Evolution of microbial life. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 109-126.

GRZEBYK D., SCHOEFILD O., VETRIANI C., FALKOWSKI P. G. (2003). The mesozoic radiation of eukaryotic algae. *J Phycol* **39**: 259-267.

GUINDON S., GASCUEL O. (2003). PHYML-a simple, fast and accurate algorithm to estimate large phylogenies by maximum likelihood. *Syst Biol* **52**: 696-704.

HACKETT J. D., ANDERSON D. M., ERDNER D. L., BHATTACHARYA D. (2004). Dinoflagellates: a remarkable evolutionary experiment. *Am J Bot* **91**: 1523-1534.

HACKETT J.D., SHEETZ T. E., YOON H. S., SOARES M. B., BONALDO M. F., CASAVANT T. L., BHATTACHARYA D. (2005). Insights into a dinoflagellate genome through expressed sequence tag analysis. *BMC Genomics* 6: 80.

HACKSTEIN J. H. P., TJADEN J., HUYNEN M. (2006). Mitochondria, hydrogenosomes and mitosomes: product of evolutionary thinkering! *Curr Genet* **50**: 225-245.

HALL T.A. (1999) BioEdit: a user-friendly biological sequence alignment editor and analysis program for Windows 95/98/NT., Nuc. Acid. Res., 41, 95-98.

HALPHEN D. (2002). A green algal apicoplast ancestor. Science 298: 2155.

HANSON M. R., FOLKERTS O. (1992). Structure and function of the higher plant mitochondrial genome. *Int Rev Cytol* 141: 129-172.

HARPER J. T., KEELING P. J. (2003). Nucleus-encoded, plastid-targetted glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) indicates a single origin for chromalveolate plastids. *Mol Biol Evol 20*: 1730-1735.

HARVELL C. D., KIM K., BURKHOLDER J. M., COLWELL R. R., EPSTEIN P. R., GRIMES D. J., HOFMANN E. E., LIPP E. K., OSTERHAUS A. D. M. E., OVERSTREET R. M., PORTER J. W., SMITH G. W., VASTA G. R. (1999). Emerging marine diseases-climate links and anthropogenic factors. *Science* **285**: 1505-1510.

HEDGES S. B., BLAIR J. E., VENTURI M. L., SHOE J. L. (2004). A molecular timescale of eukaryote evolution and the rise of complex multicellular life. *BMC Evol Biol* **4**: 2.

HILLER R. G. (2001). Empty minicircles and petB/atpA and psbD/psbE (cytb 559 alpha) genes in tandem in Amphidinium cartere plastid DNA. *FEBS Lett* **505**: 449-452.

HINNEBUSH A. G., KLOTZ L. C., IMMERGUT E., LOEBLICH A. R. (1980). Deoxyribonucleic acid sequence organization in the genome of the dinoflagellate *Crypthecodinium cohni. Biochemistry* **19**: 1744-1755.

HOEGH-GULDBERG O. (1999). Climate change, coral bleaching and the future of the world's coral reefs. *Mar Freshwater Res* **50**: 839-866.

JARVIS P., SOLL J. (2001). Toc, Tic and chloroplast protein inport. *Biochem Biophys Acta* 1541: 64-79.

JI Y-E., MERICLE B. L., REHKOPF D. H., ANDERSON J. D., FAEGIN J. E. (1996). The *Plasmodium falciparum* 6 kb element is polycistronically transcribed. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* 81: 211-223.

JONES A. (2000). Does the plant mitochondrion integrate cellular stress and regulate programmed cell death? *Trends plant sci* **5**: 225-230.

KAHL U. (2003). Malaria kills 1 million people every year. Genetic mapping of mosquito raise hope for vaccine as well as more effective drugs. *Lakartidningen* **100**: 1042-1047.

KATOH K., KUMA K., TOH H., MYATA T. (2005). MAFFT version 5: improvement in acuracy of multiple sequence alignment. *Nuc Acid Res* **33**: 511-518.

KATOH K., MISAWA K., KUMA K., MYATA T. (2002). MAFFT: a novel method for rapid multiple sequence alignment based on fast Fourier transform. *Nuc Acid Res* **30**: 3059-3066.

KÖHLER S., DELWICHE C.F., DENNY P. W., TILNEY L. G., WEBSTER P., WILSON R. J., PALMER J. D., ROOS D. J. (1997). A plastid of probable green algal origin in Apicomplexan parasites. *Science* **275**: 1485-1489.

LANG B. F., BURGER G., O KELLY C. J., CEDERGREN R., GOLDING G. B., LEMIEUX C., SANKOFF D., TURMEL M., GRAY M. W. (1997). An ancestral mitochondrial DNA resembling a eubacterial genome in miniature. *Nature* **387**: 493-497.

LANG B. F., BRINKMANN H., KOSKI L., FUJISHIMA M., GOERTZ H. D., BURGER D. (2005). On the origin of mitochondria and Rickettsia-related eukaryotic endosymbionts. *Jpn J Protozool* **38**: 493-497.

LANG B. F., OKELLY C. J., BURGER G. (1998). Mitochondrial genomics in protists, an approach to probing eukaryotic evolution. *Protist* **149**: 313-322.

LANG B. F., SEIF E., GRAY M. W., OKELLY C. J., BURGER G. (1999). Comperative genomics approach to the evolution of eukaryotes and their mitochondria. *J Eukaryot Microbiol* **46**: 320-326.

LANG-UNNASH N., REITH M. E., MUNHOLLAND J., BARTA J. R. (1998). Plastids are widespread and ancient in parasites of the phylum Apicomplexa. *Int J Parasitol* 28: 1743-1754.

LEVINE N.D. (1988) The Protozoan Phylum Apicomplexa. CRC Press, Boca Raton.

LI J., MAGA J. A., CERMAKIAN N., CEDERGREN R., FAEGIN J. E. (2001). Identification and characterization of a Plasmodium falciparum RNA polymerase gene with similarity to mitochondrial RNA polymerases. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* **113**: 261-269.

LIN S., ZHANG H., SPENCER D. F., NORMAN J. E., GRAY M. V. (2002). Widespread and extensive editing of mitochondrial mRNAs in dinoflagellates. J *Mol Biol* **320**: 727-739.

LOEBLICH A. R. (1976). Dinoflagellate evolution: speculation and evidence. *J Protozool* 23: 13-28.

LOCKHART P. J., PENNY D., HENDY M. D., HOWE C. J., BEANLAND T. J., LARKUM A. W. (1992). Controversy on chloroplast origins. *FEBS Lett* **301**:127-131

LOGAN D. C., KNIGHT M. R. (2003). Mitochondrial and cytosolic calcium dynamics are differentially regulated in plants. *Plant physiol* **133**: 21-24.

LYNN D. H., GILRON G. L. (1992). A brief review of approaches using ciliated protists to asses aquatic ecosystem health. *J Aquatic Ecosystem Health* **1**: 263-270.

MACKENZIE S., MCINTOSH L. (1999). Higher plant mitochondria. *Plant Cell* 11: 571-586.

MARÉCHAL E. AND CESBRON-DELAUW M.F. (2001) The apicoplast: the new member of the plastid family. *Trends Plant Sci* vol.6,no.5: 200-205.

MARTIN W., HERRMANN R. G. (1998). Gene transfer from organelles to nucleus: How much, What happens, and why? *Plant Physiol* **118**: 9-17.

MARTIN W., MÜLLER M. (1998). The hydrogen hypothesis for the first eukaryote. *Nature* **392**: 37-41.

MCFADDEN G. I. (1999). Plastids and protein targeting. J Eukaryot Microbiol 46: 339-346.

MCFADDEN G. I., WALLER R. F., REITH M. E., LANG-UNASH N. (1997). Plastids in apicomplexan parasites. *Plant Syst Evol; Supplement* 11: 261-287.

MCFADEN G.I. AND ROOS D.S. (1999) Apicomplexan plastids as a drug target. *Trends Microbiol* 7: 328-332. MCINTOSH M. T., SRIVASTAVA R., VAIDYA A. B. (1998). Divergent evolutionary constraints on mitochondrial and nuclear genomes of malaria parasites. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* **95**: 69-80.

MOORE R. B., OBORNIK M., CHRUDIMSKY T., JANOUSKOVEC J., VANCOVA M., GREEN D. H., WRIGHT S. M., DAVIES N., BOLCH C. J. S., HEIMANN K., HOEGH-GULDBERG O., LOGSDON J. M. JR., CARTER D. A. (2007). A modern lineage representing the photosynthetic predecessors of apicomplexan parasites. unpublished

MOREIRA D., LOPEZ-GARCIA P. (1998). Symbiosis between methanogenic archea and δ -proteobacteria as the origin of eukaryots: a syntrophic hypothesis. *J Mol Evol* **47**: 517-530.

MORENO DIAZ DE LA ESPINA S., ALVERCA E., CUADRADO A., FRANCA S. (2005). Organization of the genome and gene expression in a nuclear environment lacking histones and nucleosomes: the amazing dinoflagellates. *Eur J Cell Biol* 84: 137-149.

MILLER D. J. AND YELLOWLEES D. (1989). Inorganic nitrogen uptake by symbiotic marine cnidarians: a critical review. *Proc R Soc Lond* 237: 109-125.

MUSCATINE L. (1990). The role of symbiotic algae in carbon and energy flux in reef corals. *Coral Reefs* **25**: 75-87.

MUSCATINE L. AND PORTER J. W. (1977). Reef corals: mutualistic symbiosis adapted to nutrient poor environments. *BioSci* 27: 154-157.

NORMAN J. E. (2000). Mitochondrial genome organization, expression and evolution in the dinoflagellate *Crypthecodinium cohnii*. PhD. thesis. Dalhousie University, Halifax. 206 pp.

NORMAN J. E., GRAY M. W. (2001). A complex organization of gene encoding cytochrome oxidase subunit 1 in the mitochondrial genome of the dinoflagellate Crypthecodinium cohnii: Homologous recombination generates two different cox 1 open reading frames. *J Mol Evol* **53**: 351-363.

OBORNIK M., JIRKU M., SLAPETA J. R., MODRY D., KOUDELA B, LUKES J. (2002). Notes on coccidian phylogeny, based on the apicoplast small subunit ribosomal DNA. *ParRes* 88: 260-263.

OKAMOTO O. K, HASTINGS J. W. (2003). Genome-wide analysis of redox-regulated genes in a dinoflagellate. *Gene* **321**: 73-81.

PEREZ-MARTINEZ X., ANTARAMIAN A., VAZQUEZ-ACEVADO M., FUNES S., TOLKUNOVA E., D'ALAYER J., CLAROS M. G., DAVIDSON E., KING M. P., GONZALES-HALPHEN D. (2001). Subunit II of Cytochrome C oxidase in Chlaminomonad algae is a heterodimer encoded by two independent nuclear genes. *J Biol Chem* **276**: 11302-11309.

PERKINS F.O., BARTA J.R., CLOPTON R.E., PEIRCE M.A., UPTON S.J. (2001a) Doflein, 1901. *In*: The illustrated guide to the protozooa,2nd Edn. (Lee J.J., Leedale G.F., Bradbury P., Eds.), pp. 371-655, Allen Press, Lawrence, USA.

PERKINS F.O., BARTA J.R., CLOPTON R.E., PEIRCE M.A., UPTON S.J. (2001b) Phylum Euglenozoa. *In*: The illustrated guide to the protozooa,2nd Edn. (Lee J.J., Leedale G.F., Bradbury P., Eds.), pp.1135-1184, Allen Press, Lawrence, USA.

POSADA D., CRANDALL K. A. (1998). Modeltest: testing the model of DNA substitution. *Bioinformatics* 14: 817-818.

PREISER P. R., WILSON R. J. M., MOORE P. J., MCCREADY S., HAJIBAGHERI M. A. N., BLIGH K. J., STRATH M., WILLIAMSON D. H. (1996). Recombination associated with replication of malarial mitochondrial DNA. *EMBO J* **15**:684-693.

RAE P. M. M. (1976). Hydroxymethyluracil in eukaryote DNA: A natural feature of the Pyrrophyta (Dinoflagellates). *Science* **194**: 1062-1064.

RAIKOV I. B. (1969). The macronucleus of ciliates, *In*: Chen T. T. (ed.), *Research in Protozoology*, Pergamon Press, London, **3**: 1-128.

RAIKOV I. B. (1982). *The protozoan nucleus. Morphology and evolution. Springer-Verlag, NewYork.* 474pp.

RANDS M. L., LOUGHMAN B. G., DOUGLAS A. E. (1993). The symbiotic interface in an alga-invertebrate symbiosis. *Proc Soc Lond* **253**: 161-165.

REDKOPF D. H., GILLESPIE D. E., HARRELL M. I., FAEGIN J. E. (2000). Transcriptional mapping and RNA processing of the Plasmodium falciparum mitochondrial mRNAs. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* **105**: 91-103.

REES T. A. (1991). Are symbiotic algae nutrient deficient? *Proc R Soc Lond* **243**: 227-233.

RIZZO P. J. (1981). Comperative aspects of basic chromatin proteins in dinoflagellates. *Biosystems* **14**: 433-443.

RIZZO P. J. (2003). Those amazing dinoflagellate chromosomes. *Cell Res* **13**: 215-217.

ROSENBERG E. AND BEN-HAIM Y. (2002). Microbial diseases of corals and global warming. *Env Microbiol* **4**: 318-326.

SALDARRIAGA J. F., TAYLOR F. R. J., KEELING P. J., CAVALLIER-SMITH T. (2001). Dinoflagellate nuclear SSU rDNA phylogeny suggests multiple plastid losses and replacements. *J Mol Evol* 53: 204-213.

SALDARRIAGA J. F., MCEWAN M. L., FAST N. M., TAYLOR F. J. R., KEELING P. J. (2003). Multiple protein phylogenies show that *Oxyhrris marina* and *Perkinsus marinus* are early branches of the dinoflagellate lineage. *Int J Syst Evol Microbiol* 53: 355-365.

SAMBROOK J., RUSSELL D. W. (2001). Molecular cloning, third edition. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Cold Spring Harbor, New York.

SANCHEZ-PUERTA M. V., LIPPMEIER J. C., APT K. E., DELWICHE C. F. (2007). Plastid genes in a non-photosynthetic dinoflagellate. *Protist* **158**: 105-117.

SARASTE M. (1999). Oxidative phosphorylation at the fin the siecle. *Science* **283**: 1488-1493.

SCHNEPF E. AND ELBRÄCHTER M. (1988). Cryptophycean-like double membranebound chloroplast in the dinoflagellate, *Dinophysis* Ehrenb: evolutionary, phylogenetic and toxicological implications. *Bot Acta* **101**: 196-203.

SCHNEPF E. AND ELBRÄCHTER M. (1999). Dinophyte chloroplasts and phylogeny-a review. *Grana* 38: 81-97.

SHIMODAIRA H. (2002). An aproximately unbiased test for phylogenetic tree selection. *Syst Biol* **51**: 492-508.

SHIMODAIRA H., Hasegawa M. (2001). CONSEL: for assessing the confidence of phylogenetic tree selection. *Bioinformatics* **17**: 1246-1247.

STOEBE B. AND KOWALLIK K. V. (1999). Gene-cluster analysis in chloroplast genomics. *Trends Genet* **15**: 344-347.

SULLIVAN M., LI J., KUMAR S., ROGERS M. J., MCCUTHAN T. F. (2000). Effects of interruption apicoplast function on malaria infection, development and transmission. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* **109**: 17-23.

SWOFFORD D. L. (2001). PAUP*: Phylogenetic Analysis Using Parsimony (* and other methods), version 4.10. Sinauer Associates, Sunderland.

TAKISHITA K., ISHIDA K. I., MARUYAMA T. (2004). Phylogeny of nuclear-encoded plastid-targeted GAPDH gene supports separate origins for the peridinin-and fucoxanthin derivate-containing plastids of dinoflagellates. *Protist* **155**: 447-458.

TAKISHITA K., PATRON N., ISHIDA K. I., MARUYAMA T., KEELING P. J. (2005). A transcriptional fusion of genes encoding glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate

dehydrogenease (GAPDH) and enolase in dinoflagellates. *J Eukaryot Microbiol* **52**: 343-348.

Tosso M. A., OMOTO CH., K. (2007). *Gregarina nimphadrodes* may lack both a plastid genome and organelle. *J Eucaryot Microbiol* **54**: 66-72.

VANDECASTEELE G., SZABADKAI G., RIZZUTO R. (2001). Mitochondrial calcium homeostasis: mechanisms and molecules. IUBMB Life 52: 213-219.

VAN DOLAH F. M. (2000). Marine algal toxins, health effects and their and their increased occurance. *Environ Health Perspect* **108** (Suplement 1): 133-141.

VAN DE PEER Y., FRICKEY T., TAYLOR J. S., MAYER A. (2002). Dealing with saturation at the amonoacid level: a case study based on duplicated zebrafish genes. *Gene* **295**: 205-211.

VESK M., DIBBAYAWAN T. P., VESK P. A. (1996). Immunogold localization of pycoerythrin in chloroplasts of *Dinophysis acuminate* and *Dinophysis fortii* (Dinophysiales, Dinophyta). *Phycologia* **35**: 234-238.

WALLER R.F., KEELING P. J. (2006). Alveolate and chlorophycean mitochondrial cox 2 gene split twice independently. *Gene* **388**: 33-37.

WANG J. T. AND DOUGLAS A. E. (1999). Nitrogen recycling or nitrogen conservation in an alga-invertebrate symbiosis? *Mar Biol* **135**: 219-222.

WATANABE M. M., TAKEDA Y., SASA T., INOUYE I., SUDA S., SAWAGUCHI T., CHIHARA M. (1987). A green dinoflagellate with chlorophyls *a* and *b* morphology fine structure of the chloroplast and chlorophyll composition. *J Phycol* 23: 382-389.

WATTIER R. A., PRODÖHL P. A., MAGGS C. A. (2000). DNA isolation protocol for red seaweed (Rhodophyta). *Plant Mol Biol Rept* 18: 275-281.

WILKINSON C. R. (1999). Global and local threads to coral reef functioning and existence: review and predictions. *Mar Freshwater Res* **50**: 867-876.

WILLIAMS B. A. P. AND KEELING P. J. (2003). Cryptic organelles in parasitic protists and fungi. *Adv Parasitol* 54: 9-68.

WILLIAMSON D. H., GARDNER M. J., PREISER P., MOORE D. J., RANGACHARI K., WILSON R. J. M (1993). The evolutionary origin of the 35 kb circular DNA of *Plasmodium falciparum*: new evidence supports a possible rhodophyte ancestry. *Mol Gen Genet* 243: 249-252.

WILSON I. (1993). Plastids better red than dead. Nature 366: 638.

WILSON R. J., DENNY P. W., PREISER P. R., RANGACHARI K., ROBERTS K., ROY A., WHYTE A., STRATH M., MOOR D. J., MOOR P. W., WILLIAMSON D. H. (1996).

Complete gene map of the plastid-like DNA of the malarial parasite Plasmodium falciparum. *J Mol Biol* **261**: 155-172.

WILSON R. J. M., WILLIAMSON D. H. (1997). Extrachromosomal DNA in the Apicomplexa. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev* 81: 1-&.

WOLTERS J. (1991). The troublesome parasites: molecular and morphological evidence that Apicomplexa belong to the dinoflagellate-ciliate clade. *BioSystems* **25**: 75-84.

WONG J. T. Y., NEW D. C., WONG J. C. W., HUNG V. K. L. (2003). Histone-like proteins of the dinoflagellate *Crypthecodinium cohnii* have homologies to bacterial DNA-binding proteins. *Eucaryot Cell* **2**: 646-650.

YAP M., KARA U. A., TEN HEGGELER-BORDIER B., TING R., TAN T. M. (1997). Partial nucleotid sequence and organisation of extrachromosomal plastid-like DNA in *Plasmodium berghei*. *Gene* **200**: 91-98.

YOON H. S., HACKETT J. D., CINIGLIA C., PINTO G., BHATTACHARYA D. (2004). A moleculare timeline for the origin of photosynthetic eukaryotes. *Mol Biol Evol* 21: 809-818.

YOULE R. J., KARBOWSKI M. (2005). Mitochondrial fission in apoptosis. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **6**: 657-663.

ZHANG Z., GREEN B. R., CAVALIER-SMITH T. (1999). Single gene circles in dinoflagellate chloroplast genomes. *Nature* **400**: 155-159.

ZHANG Z., GREEN B. R., CAVALIER-SMITH T. (2000). Phylogeny of ultra-rapidly evolving dinoflagellate chloroplast genes: a possible common origin for sporozoan and dinoflagellate plastids. *J Mol Evol* **51**: 26-40.

ZHANG Z., CAVALIER-SMITH T., GREEN B. R. (2001). A family of selfish minicircular chromosomes with jumbled chloroplast gene fragments from a dinoflagellate. *Mol Biol Evol* **18**: 1558-1565.

Zhu G. Marchewka M. J., Keithly J. S. (2000). Cryptosporidium parvum appears to lack a plastid genome. Microbiology 146: 315-321.

ZILLIG W., KLENK H. P., PALM P., LEFFERS H., PÜHLER G., GROPP F., GARET R. A. (1989). Did eukaryotes originate by a fusion event? *Endocyt Cell Res* **6**: 1-25.

Appendix

Medium f2 (stock solution): 1 ml NaNO₃ (7.5% w/v), 1 ml NaH₂PO₄ · H₂O (0.5% w/v), 1 ml Na₂SiO₃ · 9H₂O (3% w/v), 1 ml f/2 trace metal solution, 0.5 ml vitamin solution

f/2 trace metal solution: 1.3 g FeCl₃ · $6H_2O$, 8.7 g Na₂EDTA · $2H_2O$, 1 ml CuSO₄ · $5H_2O$ (9.8 mg/1 ml dH₂O), 1 ml Na₂MoO₄ · $2H_2O$ (6.3 mg/1 ml dH₂O), 1 ml ZnSO₄ · $7H_2O$ (2.2 g/100 ml dH₂O), 1 ml CoCl₂ · $6H_2O$ (1 g/100 ml dH₂O), 1 ml MnCl₂ · $4H_2O$ (18 g/10 ml dH₂O), pH 4.5; Make final volume up to 1 L with dH₂O

Vitamin solution: 1 ml vitamin B_{12} (10 mg/10 ml dH₂O), 1 ml Biotin (10 mg/10 ml dH₂O), 200 mg Thiamine HCl; make final volume up to 1 L with dH₂O

Lysation buffer (Wattier et al 2000): 100 mM Tris-HCl, 50 mM EDTA, 500 mM NaCl + 0.4 μ l SDS (20% w/v)

1 x TBE buffer: 2 mM Na₂EDTA, 89 mM boric acid, 89 mM Tris

LB medium: 1% bacto-tryptone, 0.5% bacto-yeast extract, 0.5% NACl, pH 7.0; sterile

SOC medium: 2% bacto-tryptone, 0.5% bacto-yeast extract, 0.05% NaCl, 2.5 mM KCl, 10 mM MgCl₂, 10 mM Mg SO₄, 20 mM glucose, pH 7.0; sterile

Agar plates: 1.5% bacto-agar in LB medium, 50 µg/ml ampicilline

PFGE lysis buffer: 0.5 M EDTA (pH=9.5), N-Lauroylsarcosine 1% (V/V), Proteinase K (20 mg/ml).

SET buffer: 0.15 M NaCl, 0.1 M EDTA, 10 mM Tris (pH=8.0)